

Plant Anaerobic Stress II. Strategy of Avoidance of Anaerobiosis and Other Aspects of Plant Life under Hypoxia and Anoxia

Boris B. Vartapetian^{1*} • Martin M. Sachs² • Kurt V. Fagerstedt³

¹ Timiryazev Institute of Plant Physiology, Russian Academy of Sciences, 35, Botanicheskaya, 127276 Moscow, Russia ² USDA/ARS/MWA-Soybean/Maize Germplasm, Pathology & Genetics Research Unit Urbana, IL, USA Plant Picker, Provide a Department of Pickeric Internet and Provide Academy and Pickeric Internet and Pickeric Intern

³ Plant Biology, Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Helsinki University, P.O. Box 65, FI-00014, Finland

Corresponding author: * borisvartapet@ippras.ru

ABSTRACT

This review is a logical follow-up of previous publications (Vartapetian and Crawford 2007; Sachs and Vartapetian 2007) where an attempt was made to summarize the results of earlier periods of investigations of plant anaerobic stress and the activity of members of the International Society for Plant Anaerobiosis (ISPA) that ultimately brought about the establishment and international recognition of a new scientific discipline in the field of plant ecological physiology, biochemistry and molecular biology devoted to plant life under hypoxia and anoxia. Special attention was also paid to the strategy of metabolic adaptation of plants to hypoxia and anoxia, realized at the molecular level, including both the molecular biological and molecular genetic aspects of the problem. Continuing the discussion of strategies of plant adaptation to anaerobic environments in this review we pay particular consideration to the strategy of adaptation accomplished at the whole plant level by the formation of a continuous network of gas-filled spaces (aerenchyma), which development, provoked by specific signaling systems and programmed cell death, provides facilitated long-distance oxygen transport from aerated plant parts to organs (roots, rhizomes) under anaerobic conditions, that is a strategy of avoidance of anaerobiosis, or the phenomenon of "apparent" tolerance. Additionally, the following important aspects of plant hypoxic and anoxic stress are also considered here: post-anaerobic plant injury by reactive oxygen species and protection against oxidative injury by plant antioxidants; the Davies-Roberts pH-stat theory; alternative electron acceptors; demonstration of the adaptation syndrome in plants under anaerobic stress; and genetic and cellular engineering in generating plants tolerant to anaerobic stress.

Keywords: adaptation syndrome, aerenchyma formation, alternative electron acceptors, antioxidants, genetic and cellular engineering, oxygen translocation, reactive oxygen species

Abbreviations: AA, ascorbic acid; ACC, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid; CAT, catalase; GSH, reduced glutathione; GSSG, oxidized glutathione; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; PCD, programmed cell death; PHGPH, phospholipids hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TBARS, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	2
AVOIDANCE OF ANAEROBIOSIS	
FORMATION OF AERENCHYMA	2
Signal factors in the formation of aerenchyma	3
NO• as a signaling molecule in plant tissues	
Enzymatic sources of reactive nitrogen species (RNS)	3
Non-enzymatic sources of NO	
Calcium as a signaling factor	
Aerenchyma formation and PCD	
Root-tip death	
Root tip death under anoxia: programmed cell death or necrosis?	
OXYGEN TRANSLOCATION	5
POST-ANAEROBIC DAMAGE AND ADAPTATION	
Sources of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plant cells	7
Antioxidant systems.	
Low molecular weight antioxidants	
Enzymes participating in quenching ROS	
Roles of ROS in signaling during hypoxic or anoxic stress	9
DAVIES-ROBERTS pH-STAT THEORY	
ALTERNATIVE ELECTRON ACCEPTORS	
DEMONSTRATION OF ADAPTATION SYNDROME IN PLANTS UNDER ANAEROBIC STRESS	
GENETIC AND CELLULAR ENGINEERING	

CONCLUDING REMARKS	13
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	14
REFERENCES	14

INTRODUCTION

Higher plants, which are aerobic organisms, frequently inhabit environments that are under conditions of temporal or permanent anaerobic stress (hypoxia and anoxia). Most often anaerobiosis takes place in flooded soils, as a result of low oxygen solubility and diffusion rate in water. Anaerobic stress substantially suppresses cell aerobic metabolism, and often results in severe damage ultimately leading to death of agricultural and wild plants (Hook and Crawford 1978; Kozlovsky 1984; Crawford 1987; Jackson *et al.* 1991; Jackson and Black 1993; Crawford and Braendle 1996).

However, through evolution and selection many plant species have become adapted to inhabiting waterlogged and even submerged soils when plants are partly or completely under water. According to contemporary views there are two general strategies of plant adaptation to anaerobic environments (Vartapetian 1978), namely metabolic adaptation, which is realized at the molecular level and is illustrated by a radical redirection of protein, carbohydrate and energy metabolism (Sachs and Vartapetian 2007) and anatomicalmorphological adaptation at the whole plant level through its capacity to avoid anaerobiosis by translocating oxygen from aerated parts into submerged organs (roots, rhizomes; Armstrong 1978; Vartapetian et al. 1978a; Armstrong 1979; Vartapetian and Jackson 1997; Jackson and Armstrong 1999). The strategy of plant metabolic adaptation to hypoxia and anoxia was considered in our previous publication (Sachs and Vartapetian 2007). In the present review, emphasis is put on the general strategy of plant adaptation to anaerobic stress which is realized at the whole plant level by long-distance oxygen transport, a strategy of anaerobiosis avoidance. In addition, several other important aspects of plant life under hypoxia and anoxia are considered: postanaerobic plant injury by reactive oxygen radicals; acidification of cell cytoplasm under anaerobic stress and its regulation; alternative electron acceptors under anoxia (nitrate and anaerobically synthesized lipids); visualization and demonstration of the adaptation syndrome in plants under anaerobic stress and possible molecular mechanisms that may be responsible for it; and genetic and cellular engineering approaches in generating plant cells and regenerated plants tolerant to low oxygen stress.

AVOIDANCE OF ANAEROBIOSIS

Higher plants avoid anaerobiosis in several ways; for instance by producing surface adventitious roots (Jackson and Armstrong 1999) or rapidly growing under water to make their way to the surface aerobic environment as shown for submerged wild plants such as Potamogeton pectinatus, P. distinctus and Rumex palustris (Summers et al. 2000; Sato et al. 2002; Voesenek et al. 2003) and deepwater rice (Kende et al. 1998; Almeida et al. 2003; Vriezen et al. 2003). Nevertheless, as noted by Jackson and Armstrong (1999) and Armstrong et al. (1994), the most widespread and efficient way for a plant to avoid anoxia is the development of a continuous gas-filled hollow network, aerenchyma, in the cortical tissue of roots, stems, and leaves, which facilitates oxygen transport by diffusion and mass flow (conversion) from aerated above-ground organs to those located in the anaerobic environment (down to the root tips).

Besides internal oxygen translocation facilitated by aerenchyma, partially submerged plants, for instance deepwater rice, avoid root anaerobiosis due external aeration (Raskin and Kende 1983, 1985; Becket *et al.* 1988). In experiments with deep-water rice Raskin and Kende (1983, 1985) presented the evidence for the existence of air layers between hydrophobic surface of submerged leaf and surrounding water. These air layers provide an aeration path which, according to these authors, is vital for partially submerged plants.

Therefore, we first consider the mechanism of aerenchyma formation and then compare oxygen transport in plants with developed aerenchyma and those without them.

FORMATION OF AERENCHYMA

Roots of plants growing in flooded soils are exposed to an environment devoid of oxygen and in which reduction processes prevail, leading to the accumulation of toxic inorganic and organic compounds in the soil and to the suppression of nitrification and nitrogen fixation (Ponnamperuma 1984; Gambrell *et al.* 1991; Blom 1999; Kirk and Kronzucker 2005). The development of aerenchyma in hydrophytes inhabiting flooded soils and mesophytes growing in dry soils as well as the role of aerenchyma in oxygen transport from aerated plant parts to organs under an anaerobic environment (roots, rhizomes) have been considered in detail in several reviews (Armstrong 1978, 1979; Drew 1992; Armstrong *et al.* 1994; Jackson and Armstrong 1999; Colmer 2003; Evans 2004).

The formation of continuous gas-filled spaces in aboveand underground organs facilitate oxygen transport by diffusion and mass flow from aerated shoots to roots and rhizomes. In addition, aerenchyma supplies oxygen to the rhizosphere through diffusion from the roots towards the outside environment. This flow of oxygen is involved in the detoxification of reduced iron, manganese, and hydrogen sulfide, which accumulate in anaerobic soil (Ponnamperuma 1984; Gambrell et al. 1991). Oxygen secreted from the roots is also involved in nitrification and nitrogen fixation (Blom 1999; Kirk and Kronzucker 2005). The occurrence of aerenchyma favors the removal, with an ascending flow, of certain volatile compounds (ethylene, CO2, and CH₄), which also accumulate in flooded soils. Methane, produced in anaerobic rice fields is one of the major compounds responsible for global climate warming on our planet (Neue et al. 1990). About 25-60 million tons of methane are emitted from rice fields into the atmosphere each year (Neue et al. 1990).

Aerenchyma develops most often in plants inhabiting flooded soils (Armstrong 1978; Armstrong *et al.* 1994). Under flooding-induced oxygen deficiency in the rhizosphere, when primary roots perish, aerenchyma is also formed in adventitious roots of many plants cultivated on dry soils (maize, wheat, sunflower, and clover) (Kawase 1981; Smirnoff and Crawford 1983; Jackson and Drew 1984; Jackson 1985; Campell and Drew 1983; Watkin *et al.* 1998; Aschi-Smith *et al.* 2003).

Aerenchyma is formed in plants constitutively by schizogeny or can be induced by low oxygen content by lysigeny. One or another mechanism of aerenchyma formation prevails in various plant species (Kawase 1981; Smirnoff and Crawford 1983; Jackson and Drew 1984; Jackson 1985; Armstrong *et al.* 1994; Justin and Armstrong 1991; Watkin *et al.* 1998; Jackson and Armstrong 1999; Aschi-Smith *et al.* 2003). In the case of schizogeny, gas-filled spaces are formed by controlled cell division and expansion. This is more characteristic of plants inhabiting excessively wet and flooded soils and under such circumstances the process is predominantly a constitutive event. In fact, the mechanism(s) underlying the development of schizogenous aerenchyma has yet to be fully addressed. Another better understood mechanism of aerenchyma formation is through selective degradation of some cells in the cortex and is termed, lysigeny, i.e., programmed cell death (PCD) and it is mainly induced by low oxygen concentrations in the soil during such events as excessive rain, irrigation or flooding.

Signal factors in the formation of aerenchyma

During soil flooding, when oxygen content in both the roots and the rhizosphere drops, some biochemical processes precede cell death: one of the best characterized being the accumulation of ethylene in the both the roots and the rhizosphere (Drew et al. 1979; Kawase 1981; Jackson and Drew 1984; Jackson 1985; Watkin et al. 1998). This rise in ethylene results in the expression of the genes responsible for cell deg-radation and death. Ethylene, which increases substantially during oxygen deficiency due to soil flooding, is a signal molecule triggering a chain or cascade of events leading to aerenchyma formation (Brailsford et al. 1993; He et al. 1994, 1996). This has been shown in experiments in which aerenchyma formation could be arrested by the inhibition of ethylene synthesis or function and resumed by a treatment with exogenous ethylene (He et al. 1996). It has been shown that a decrease in the oxygen content in the rhizosphere primarily reflects upon ethylene content in the root stele, where anaerobic conditions start earlier than in the root cortex (Armstrong and Beckett 1987; Darvent et al. 2003; Garthwaite et al. 2004). Under conditions of hypoxia or anoxia in the root stele, the enzyme catalyzing the synthesis of the ethylene precursor, 1-aminocyclopropane-1carboxylic acid (ACC), is activated (He et al. 1994). Low oxygen levels are required for ACC conversion into ethylene. In the presence of a low concentration of oxygen (3.0-12.5%) in the root cortex, ACC oxidase is activated and ACC is converted into ethylene.

Induction of the above-mentioned biochemical processes under hypoxia and anoxia indicates that the cells sense a low oxygen level and activate a signaling cascade inducing genes encoding anaerobic proteins.

Earlier speculation suggested that nonsymbiotic haemoglobin (Hb) could help sense oxygen deficiency (Appleby et al. 1988). However, this supposition now seems rather unlikely because Hb binds oxygen tightly (dissociation constant 0.0272 s⁻¹, Duff et al. 1997), although it has been shown that the synthesis of nonsymbiotic Hb is strongly enhanced under hypoxia and the protein accumulates in the cells (Duff et al. 1997). The authors of these studies believe that metabolic pathways including the interaction between Hb and nitric oxide (NO) under hypoxia are an alternative route to mitochondrial electron transport during plant respiration, i.e., under such conditions, Hb functions like an dioxygenase of NO, which is formed under anaerobic conditions because of nitrate reduction (Igamberdiev et al. 2005). The authors hypothesized that stress-induced Hbs, functioning as dioxygenases detoxify NO and oxidizing NADH under oxygen deficiency, thus maintain the ATP level by an as yet unknown mechanism. Alfalfa plants over-expressing the Hb gene were more tolerant to flooding than either the wild-type plants or the plants with suppressed Hb expression (Dordas et al. 2003; Baron et al. 2004; Hill 2004).

NO• as a signaling molecule in plant tissues

The chemical properties of nitric oxide make this gas a good candidate as a signaling molecule. NO can freely penetrate the lipid bilayer, and, hence be transported within the cell. NO can be quickly produced on demand via inducible enzymatic and non-enzymatic routes. Due to its free radical nature (one unpaired electron) NO has a short half-life (in the order of a few seconds), and can be removed easily when no longer needed (reviewed by Lamattina *et al.* 2003 and Neill *et al.* 2003). Nitric oxide is represented by three species with different chemical reactivity and physical properties: radical NO•, nitrosonium cation (NO⁺) and nitroxyl anion (NO⁻). Nitric oxide can have direct or indirect biological effects; the direct effects take place at low

NO concentrations (<1 μ M) (Wink and Mitchell 1998), while the indirect effects through reactive nitrogen species (RNS) take place at higher local concentrations (>1 μ M). The direct NO effects include the reduction of free metal ions or the oxidation of metals in protein complexes such as Hb, and Fe-nitrosyl formation thus resulting in the activation of guanylate cyclase and hemoxygenase and the inhibition of P450, cytochrome c oxidase and catalase, as well as the stimulation of T_fR protein and the down-regulation of ferritin (Wink and Mitchell 1998).

A number of investigations have been carried out on the involvement of NO during plant development (reviewed by Beligni and Lamattina 2001; Wendehenne *et al.* 2001, 2003; Gechev et al. 2006). NO has also been found to slow down plant senescence in pea leaves, in cut flowers and in ripening fruits (Leshem 2000) pointing towards NO and programmed cell death regulation. Furthermore, cytokinins have been shown to induce synthesis in tobacco, parsley and Arabidopsis cell cultures. Since a nitric oxide synthase (NOS)-inhibitor has been shown to hinder cytokinininduced betalaine accumulation in Amaranthus, it has been suggested that NO takes part in the cytokinin signaling route in plant tissues (Tun et al. 2001, and references therein). Hence, NO may also mediate cytokinin-induced programmed cell death (Carimini et al. 2002). It has also been shown that NO induces programmed cell death needed for aerenchyma development via hydrogen peroxide (Borutaite and Brown 2003).

The large number of physiological and developmental effects of NO point towards regulation of gene expression (reviewed by Neill et al. 2003). This has indeed been observed in some occasions, e.g. in TMV-resistant tobacco NOS activity increases after infection (Klessig et al. 2000). In a microarray study on Arabidopsis suspension cultures it was shown that a number of genes are induced by NO and a common induction mechanism was suggested for some of the genes, although no data on a common regulatory element in the promoter areas of these genes exist as yet (Huang et al. 2002). More recently, it has been shown that NO and ROS induce changes in the transcription of many genes and work in a complementary manner. For example, phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) and chalcone synthase are induced by NO without the involvement of ROS, while glutathione-S-transferase has been shown to be induced by H₂O₂ (Grün et al. 2006). Also, the combined effect of NO and H₂O₂ has been tested in a series of experiments on catalase-deficient tobacco mutants treated with NO and exposed to high light (Zago et al. 2006). The latter experiments proved that NO and H₂O₂ work together in the induction of programmed cell death.

Enzymatic sources of reactive nitrogen species (RNS)

In recent years, reactive nitrogen species and especially nitric oxide (NO) have become the focus of research in plant signaling. The best known route for NO production in plant tissues is through nitrate reductase. In the presence of nitrite and NADH and, under physiological pH levels nitrate reductases are capable of NO• and RNS production in vivo and in vitro in the absence of O₂ (Yamasaki and Sakihama 2000; Rockel et al. 2002). Activation of nitrate reductase under hypoxic conditions in barley roots, and accumulation of NO during hypoxic treatment in maize cells have been shown, and a role for NO as a signal for aerenchyma formation has been hypothesized (Dordas et al. 2003). The regulation of NO level under oxygen deprivation can be achieved in plants via interaction with stress-induced non-symbiotic Hb through several routes as described by Dordas et al. (2003).

In mammalian cells three types of nitric oxide synthases (NOS, EC 1.14.13.39) have been described: a constitutively expressed neuronal (nNOS), an endothelial (eNOS), both under the control of Ca^{2+} -calmodulin, and an inducible (immunological) iNOS. The isoforms are the products of dif-

ferent genes with 50-60% homology and share common cofactors and chemistry for NO production (Wendehenne *et al.* 2003). The functional NOS catalyzes oxygen dependent conversion of L-arginine to citrulline and NO (Alderton *et al.* 2001) according to the following reaction:

L-arginine + NADPH + $O_2 \rightarrow \text{citrulline} + \text{NO} + \text{NADP}^+$.

However, no plant homologue of mammalian NOS has been found in the Arabidopsis thaliana genome. At present, two pathways have been identified in plants for the production of NO, i.e. a nitrite-dependent route described above and an arginine-dependent route (Crawford 2006), while the actual functioning of the recently found *AtNOS1* gene has been questioned (Guo et al. 2003; Crawford et al. 2006; Guo 2006; Zemojtel et al. 2006). The product of this gene is known to be needed for NO synthesis in vivo and its biochemical properties are similar to mammalian constitutive cNOS, however, it bears no sequence similarity to known animal NOS. Another novel pathogen-induced enzyme with NOS activity has been identified in plants, and it appears to be a variant of the P protein of the glycine decarboxylase complex (GDC) (reviewed by Douce et al. 2001). This protein again shares little homology with mammalian NOS (Chandok et al. 2003). The Arabidopsis thaliana P protein of the GDC complex is 89% identical to this variant P protein with NOS-like activity from tobacco. However, the poor homology to mammalian NOS may suggest an alternative pathway for NO production (Chandok et al. 2003).

Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR), a redox enzyme with a Mo cofactor, is another inducible source of NO in the context of stress responses in mammals. At low oxygen tensions the NO-generating activity of this enzyme is increased. Interestingly, under normoxic conditions xanthine oxidoreductase is capable of both NO• and O_2 • formation with consequent production of ONOO (Godber *et al.* 2000).

However, whether XOR produces NO in plants is not yet established.

Non-enzymatic sources of NO

The formation of NO via non-enzymatic reduction of exogenous nitrite has been shown in the apoplast of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) aleurone layers. The process requires acidic pH and its rate is enhanced by phenolic compounds (Bethke *et al.* 2004). Non-enzymatic NO production can be a factor under pathological conditions, i.e. hypoxia, which is characterized by cytoplasmic acidosis and accumulation of reducing equivalents in both animal and plant systems (Dordas *et al.* 2003).

Calcium as a signaling factor

In experiments with maize plants and cell cultures, Sachs and coworkers (Subbaiah et al. 1994; 1998; 2000; Subbaiah and Sachs 2003) demonstrated an immediate involvement of calcium ions as a signal factor during the very early stages of aerenchyma formation. Under oxygen deficiency, calcium is released from the apoplast and from mitochondria into the cytoplasm, provoking the subsequent activation of kinases and phosphatases, resulting in the activation of genes responsible for the synthesis of ethylene and subsequent reactions leading to the cell death. Mitochondria also take part in the induction of programmed cell death through the release of cytochrome c as a proapoptotic signal (Virolainen et al. 2002). It has been shown in particular that under oxygen deficiency after the calcium signal, ethylene synthesis is enhanced, and this leads to cell walls being degraded by cellulase, pectinase, and xylanase (Kawase 1979; Grineva and Bragina 1993; Grineva et al. 2000; Gunawar-dena et al. 2001a, 2001b; Bragina et al. 2003), and also probably xyloglucan endotransglycosylase (XET), which destroys cell wall xyloglucans (Saab and Sachs 1996).

Plant cells perish by apoptosis (programmed cell death or PCD), under mechanisms that appear to be similar in animals and plants. The first PCD signal being increased cytoplasmic calcium, which quickly leads to the release of proapoptotic signals if other conditions are favorable for PCD (Drew 1997; Gunawardena *et al.* 2001a, 2001b; Chichkova *et al.* 2004; reviewed by Drury and Gallois 2006).

Aerenchyma formation and PCD

Under hypoxia (at partial submergence, i.e. roots only under water), inner cortical cell layers of the primary or nodal roots are selectively killed leading to aerenchyma formation. This selective cell death not only reduces the demand for O_2 but more importantly, enhances root porosity and facilitates oxygen diffusion from the exposed plant parts toward submerged ones. Aerenchyma formation requires the presence of some oxygen (hypoxia) and occurs 3-4 cm behind the tip (He et al. 1992). This enhances the survival of the root (Gibbs et al. 1995), and the prolonged survival of the seedlings. The nature and regulation of cell death during aerenchyma formation has been analyzed (He et al. 1992; Drew et al. 2000; Gunawardena et al. 2001a, 2001b; Evans 2004). These various studies indicate that aerenchyma formation is under genetic control (reviewed in Drew et al. 2000). Cytohistological data, however, indicate that the hypoxicallyinduced PCD does not entirely follow the canonical apoptotic pathway reported for animal cells, but partly resembles cytoplasmic or necrotic death (Gunawardena et al. 2001b).

Root-tip death

Under complete submergence (or being subjected to immediate strict anoxia; i.e., 'anoxia shock'), maize seedlings exhibit another cell death process that also appears to have an adaptive significance. Although prolonged anoxia ultimately kills the entire seedling, different tissues of an individual plant differ in their tolerance (Vartapetian et al. 1978a, 1987; Johnson et al. 1989; Ellis et al. 1999). Root tips in maize, as in other plants, are very sensitive to anoxia and die within a few hours (Vartapetian et al. 1970, 1977, 1978a; Roberts et al. 1984b; Johnson et al. 1989; Folzer et al. 2006; Gladish et al. 2006). Root tips are composed of tightly packed tissues with few, if any, intercellular spaces and therefore suffer from restricted gaseous diffusion. Consequently, in flooded seedlings, root tip death may be a natural consequence of oxygen starvation and the attendant repression of substrate transport. Considerable attention has been given to strategies/mechanisms that prolong the anoxia tolerance of the primary root tip in young maize seedlings, as the tip of the primary root has been considered to be very important for seedling establishment (Drew et al. 1994). On the other hand, it was proposed that under severe anoxia, when energy generation is extremely limiting, the loss of metabolically actively intensive tissues such as the root-tip might prolong the survival of the shoot and the root axis. The facilitated survival of these two organs (shoot and root) during submergence may increase the chances of seedling recovery after reoxygenation. This was examined and results indicate that the root tip indeed acts as a dispensable and non-functional sink in anoxic seedlings (Subbaiah et al. 2000; Subbaiah and Sachs 2001). Excision of the root tip (de-tipping) before anoxia led to a superior recovery of seedlings from stress injury. De-tipped seedlings showed lesser root axis damage and an increased production of lateral roots compared to intact seedlings (Subbaiah et al. 2000).

An anaerobically induced polypeptide, sucrose synthase (SUS-SH1), was shown to be post-translationally regulated by phosphorylation, and this regulation is among the early responses that culminate in the death of primary root tip in anoxic maize seedlings (Subbaiah and Sachs 2001). Sucrose synthase (SuSy; SUS) is a unique enzyme with an ability to mobilize sucrose into diverse pathways that are critical in structural (e.g., cellulose or callose biosynthesis), storage (starch synthesis) and metabolic (e.g., glycolysis) functions of plant cells (e.g., Ruan *et al.* 1997). It is encoded by three genes in maize, *sh1* (encoding SUS-SH1; Chourey and Nelson 1976), *sus1* (encoding SUS1; Chourey 1981; Chourey *et al.* 1998) and *sus2* (encoding SUS2; Carlson *et al.* 2002; Chourey 2006). The sh1 gene is expressed mostly in the developing endosperm, whereas sus1 is expressed in many plant parts including the aleurone and basal part of the developing endosperm. The sh1 gene is induced by anoxia both at transcriptional and translational levels (ANP87; Springer *et al.* 1986). The *sus1* gene is only mildly induced by anoxia. Although the double mutants in of sh1 and sus1 have been shown to be less tolerant to anoxia (Ricard *et al.* 1998).

Under anoxia, the phosphorylation state of SuSy encoded by sh1 is correlated with membrane localization in maize primary root tips. This localization is correlated with callose accumulation and is associated with death of the root tip. Maize sh1 mutants showed sustained SuSy phosphorylation and did not exhibit the relocation to the root tip membranes and had less callose accumulation and greater tolerance to prolonged anoxia than their non-mutant siblings (Subbaiah and Sachs 2001). In addition to its functions in directing sucrose toward glycolysis and fermentation and in root tip death, SuSy apparently has other functions in responses to flooding stress that stem from its mitochondrial localization (Subbaiah *et al.* 2006).

Another enzyme that appears to be involved in the root tip death phenomenon is an anoxia-induced protease (AIP). This protease is the predominant proteolytic activity in the root tip during anoxia. Furthermore, the superior anoxia tolerance of de-tipped seedlings is associated with a decreased AIP activity. Thus, the appearance of AIP activity in the root tip during anoxia is spatially and temporally associated with the root tissue death (Subbaiah *et al.* 2000).

These studies indicate that the root tip elimination early during anoxia may provide an adaptive advantage and that maize may be evolving with the *sh1*-encoded SuSy and the anoxia-induced protease systems, a mechanism to induce cell death in the root tip as a means of tolerance to flooding.

Root tip death under anoxia: programmed cell death or necrosis?

Cell death is a basic biological process important in the regulated development of multicellular organisms and in their responses to stress. Animal cells show two fundamentally different modes of cell death, namely apoptosis (or PCD) and necrosis. The most relevant distinction between the two types of death is the early preservation of membrane integrity in apoptosis, whereas a rapid release of intracellular constituents occurs in the case of necrosis. Therefore, necrosis can presumably be dangerous, while the apoptotic process is an adaptive mechanism to dispose of cells without compromising the integrity of the organism. Nevertheless, increasing evidence points to the fact that apoptosis and necrosis represent just extremes of a wide range of possible morphological and biochemical cell death processes. Root tip death is preceded by SH1 relocation, DNA nicking, and induction of AIP as well as callose, indicating that the process, to some extent, is autonomous (and a programmed event). On the other hand, the death of root tip cells is accompanied by the acidification of the cytosol (Roberts et al. 1984a; Kulichikhin et al. 2007) as well as the external medium and an extracellular release of diffusible cytotoxins (Subbaiah et al. 1999). Therefore, root tip death in nature may be a less cell-autonomous but more of a necrotic process (Van Breusegem and Dat. 2006). De-tipping experiments (Subbaiah et al. 2000) suggest that an acceleration of the process as well as making it more cell-autonomous (i.e., pushing the process more towards PCD) would provide a definite advantage during post-anoxic recovery of maize seedlings.

The essence of stress adaptation is redirecting scarce resources to the maintenance of essential sinks as well as activation of adaptive pathways, while disinvesting in non-essential sinks and pathways. Being endowed with multiple growing points, plants have a unique ability to eliminate superfluous tissues/organs under stress and regenerate them if favorable conditions appear again. O₂-deprived maize

roots exhibit two such regulated cell or tissue-death pathways. These two pathways are clearly distinct in their regulation as well as the location of their occurrence in the root.

Therefore, a reprogramming of root tip death to have it occur early, during anoxia, may provide a definite adaptive advantage to maize seedlings exposed to anoxic stress. In *Arabidopsis*, the whole root system is dispensable for hypoxic tolerance of the seedlings; in fact, de-rooted seedlings did better under O₂ deprivation (Ellis *et al.* 1999). In maize, the primary root axis is necessary (in quickly generating a functional root system), if not essential, for the post-anoxic recovery of seedlings. However, the survival of the shoot meristem is critical for the post-anoxic re-growth and autotrophic life of the seedling.

OXYGEN TRANSLOCATION

The results of earlier investigations on oxygen translocation from aerated above-ground plant tissues to anaerobically located roots have been considered by Armstrong (1978) and Vartapetian et al. (1978a) in the monograph edited by Hook and Crawford (1978) and more recently in the review of Sachs and Vartapetian (2007). Here we recall some basic and essential findings. In dry-land mesophyte plants, such as, for example, cotton (Gossypium hirsutum; 22-26 days; 27°C), oxygen transport comprises only a small portion (7%) of root requirements in oxygen under aerobic condition (Nuritdinov and Vartapetian 1981). The proportion of O₂ transport increases only at low temperature, attaining, in cotton for instance 27% at 10°C. In experiments with Alnus glutinosa, exploring the effects of pressurized ventilation, diffusion and photosynthesis on root aeration Armstrong and Armstrong (2005a) also came to conclusion that low temperature helped to improve root aeration. The above mentioned phenomenon observed in experiments with Gossypium hirsutum and Alnus glutinosa could be explained as a result of marked drop in oxygen requirement for root respiration at low temperature without a substantial decrease in its translocation from shoots to roots. In the case of mesophytes tested, oxygen did not diffuse markedly from the roots into the external solution, at least, in experiments reported by Vartapetian and coworkers (Vartapetian et al. 1978a).

Nevertheless, the results obtained permitted to conclude that even very low levels of oxygen transport plays a definite protective role in the anaerobically incubated root life of mesophyte plants. Electron-microscopic examination of detached root mitochondria showed that degradation of their ultrastructure occurred within 6 to 10 h of the start of anaerobic incubation. Whereas in the roots of control intact plants, mitochondrial ultrastructure was maintained much longer (two to three days) in anaerobic environments (Vartapetian et al. 1978a; Andreeva et al. 1979). It was demonstrated that not only oxygen but also assimilates coming from shoots could play a definite role in the tolerance of intact roots to anoxia. In fact, in special experiments with cotton, ¹⁴C-sucrose transport from aerated organs to anaerobic roots was studied (Vartapetian et al. 1978a; Nuritdinov and Vartapetian 1980). Results showed that such transport occurred during a rather long-term anaerobic incubation of roots, although its rate was substantially reduced substantially with time. Therefore, early degradation of cell ultrastructure in detached roots could be to some degree induced by an exhaustion of substrates for glycolysis and alcoholic fermentation, i.e., substrate starvation. In fact, the imitation of assimilate transport into plant detached plant roots by feeding them glucose considerably improved their tolerance even to strict anoxia (Vartapetian et al. 1977, 1978a). Feeding even intact roots with exogenous glucose under condi-tions of anaerobiosis also favored ¹⁴C-sucrose inflow from leaves (Nuritdinov and Vartapetian 1980). Finally, a much higher tolerance to anoxia of intact roots as compared with detached roots is probably explained by hypoxic acclimation of intact roots occurring due to limited oxygen transported from aerated organs.

The usage of polarographic techniques for measurements of molecular oxygen translocation and mathematical models showed that in plant-inhabiting flooded soils (for instance, rice) as oppose to mesophytes (pumpkin, cotton) that are cultivated on aerated dry soils, oxygen was easily transported from above-ground aerated organs to oxygenate both root cells and the rhizosphere (Armstrong 1970; Vartapetian et al. 1970, 1978a; Armstrong 1979). This is in good agreement with electron-microscopic studies (Vartapetian et al. 1970, 1978a) and also with the results of physiological and biochemical investigations of Webb and Armstrong (1983) and ap Rees's laboratory (Ap Rees and Wilson 1984; Ap Rees et al. 1987) on the hypersensitivity of rice and other hydrophyte roots to oxygen deficiency. In the above mentioned experiments, it was confirmed that the roots of tolerant plants (rice, Glyceria maxima) inhabiting flooded soils were really more sensitive to oxygen deficiency than the roots of plants sensitive to flooding (pea, pumpkin).

Finally, the results of electron-microscopic, biochemical, and physiological investigations (Vartapetian et al. 1970, 1978a; Webb and Armstrong 1983; Ap Rees and Wilson 1984; Ap Rees et al. 1987) were confirmed in experiments with hydrophytes constantly living on flooded soils (Vartapetian and Andreeva 1986). It was demonstrated that feeding with exogenous glucose to anaerobically incubated roots of hydrophytes Carex leporina, Alisma plantagoaquatica, and Lycopus europaeus did not improve their adaptive properties, as it was found for the roots of mesophyte pumpkin (Vartapetian et al. 1977, 1978a) grown on dry soils. Thus, the roots of these hydrophytes being sufficiently supplied with oxygen transported from aboveground organs did not develop in the course of evolution the protective defense molecular mechanisms of adaptation to oxygen deficiency. In view of these findings, it is interesting to consider the results obtained by Crawford (1978) who demonstrated that, as oppose to roots of plants living on dry soils, the anaerobically incubated roots of hydrophytes, exhibited neither ADH activation nor an acceleration of alcoholic fermentation.

Thus, the results of the above-mentioned studies (Vartapetian *et al.* 1970, 1978a; Webb and Armstrong 1983; Ap Rees and Wilson 1984; Ap Rees *et al.* 1987) led to the paradoxical conclusion that the roots of plants constantly inhabiting flooded anaerobic soils are less, or not at all, metabolically adapted to anoxic environments. As opposed to roots of hydrophytes, those of mesophytes, which are exposed to oxygen deficiency only occasionally, developed some adaptive mechanisms.

The situation with root aeration becomes much more complex when shoots are submerged as well, as occurs with rice seedlings in East and South-East Asia (Setter et al. 1997; Jackson and Ram 2003; Mohanty and Ong 2003) or with some submerged wild plants capable of active growth under water (Summers et al. 2000; Sato et al. 2002; Voesenek et al. 2003; Voesenek and Peeters 2004). When plants are completely submerged, oxygen supply to shoots and especially to roots declines sharply. Photosynthetic oxygen formation within the plant is also suppressed in submerged plants because of a lower availability of atmospheric CO_2 and a reduced plant illumination, especially when the plants grow in deep or muddy waters (Setter et al. 1997). These limitations result in a decreased photosynthesis and thus a poor root photoassimilate supply as well. This is especially true during night hours (darkness), particularly in rice, where the roots suffer from oxygen deficiency and switch to alcoholic fermentation (Waters et al. 1989; Boamfa et al. 2003; Pedersen et al. 2004). Root growth ceases under such conditions. Nevertheless, green parts of submerged plants are capable of photosynthesis under water, which alleviates substantially such severe conditions, providing plants with both oxygen and assimilates at least during hours of daylight (Mohanty and Ong 2003; Mustroph et al. 2004; Mommer and Visser 2005).

When some leaves emerge from the water and are in contact with the atmosphere, as occurs for instance with

deep-water rice (Armstrong et al. 1994; Kende et al. 1998; Almeida et al. 2003; Vriezen et al. 2003) the situation is more favorable because the roots obtain oxygen from both the leaves via aerenchyma and over the leaf blade surface (Raskin and Kende 1983, 1985; Beckett et al. 1988). According to Raskin and Kende (1983, 1985) continuous air layers trapped between hydrophobic corrugated surface of the leaf blades of deep water rice and surrounding water constitute the major path of aeration. This results in an extremely rapid growth (20-30 cm per day) of deep-water rice for instance during monsoon periods. As a result of such high growth rates, a continuous contact of some deep-water rice leaves with the atmosphere is preserved despite several meters of water covering the plants. Rapid growth of some submerged wild plants, Potamogeton and Rumex species, for example, has also been described; these plants grow in water their leaves rise above the water surface due to intense spending of storage carbohydrates and a 3- to 6-fold increase in the rate of glycolysis (Pasteur effect) (Summers et al. 2000; Sato et al. 2002; Voesenek et al. 2003; Voesenek and Peeters 2004).

In studies performed in the laboratory of Armstrong (Darvent et al. 2003), platinum oxygen microelectrodes were used to compare specific features of oxygen transport in plants with aerenchyma in roots and those devoid of them. Microelectrodes were inserted into the primary roots of maize at various locations along the root length and at various depths inside the root in order to evaluate a topology of oxygen distribution within the root in both the longitudinal and radial planes. The results of these investigations confirmed the notion that the root cortex is its most aerated part comprising the channels for oxygen transport, whereas the stele is the least aerated part (Thomson and Greenway 1991). When oxygen content in the root environment declines, the anaerobic conditions arise first in the stele, resulting in the activation of synthase of ACC, a precursor for ethylene, and the subsequent synthesis of ethylene with the involvement of the cortex located ACC oxidase. In roots devoid of aerenchyma (wheat, for example), a decrease in the oxygen level occurs along the root length, and at the depth of more than 10 cm, oxygen essentially could not be detected in the root tips, which led to their death because of oxygen shortage. Hence it is clear why the roots devoid of aerenchyma penetrate soil no deeper than 10 cm (Thomson et al. 1990). As was demonstrated in Armstrong's laboratory (Darvent et al. 2003), in maize roots containing aerenchyma, the pattern of longitudinal and radial oxygen distribution in the root is quite different. Under anaerobic conditions, such roots are much better provided with oxygen transported from above-ground organs. This was further demonstrated in biochemical studies when adenylate energy charge was compared in anaerobically incubated roots with and without aerenchyma (Drew et al. 1985).

Thus, subsequent studies summarized in several publications (Vartapetian 1993a, 1993b; Armstrong *et al.* 1994; Jackson *et al.* 1999; Darvent *et al.* 2003; Vartapetian *et al.* 2003) confirmed and substantially added to the concept proposed earlier based on the electron microscopic, polarographic and chemiluminescent examinations as well as mathematical modeling of oxygen translocation in tolerant and sensitive plants (Armstrong *et al.* 1970, 1978, 1979; Vartapetian *et al.* 1970; Vartapetian 1973; Vartapetian *et al.* 1974, 1978a). Indeed these studies emphasized that, as distinct from mesophytes growing on dry soils, the principal strategy of adaptation of hydrophytes inhabiting flooded anaerobic soils is avoidance of root an-aerobiosis through longdistant oxygen transport but not through metabolic adaptation.

Furthermore the facilitated long-distance oxygen transport to the root tip in plants inhabiting flooded soils is provided, on the one hand, by the formation of expanded gascontaining spaces and, on the other hand, by impermeability of the basal root part to oxygen diffusion toward the rhizosphere (Armstrong and Beckett 1987; Jackson and Armstrong 1999; Garthwaite 2004). In experiments with seedlings of several rice varieties (Colmer *et al.* 1998; Colmer 2003), it was shown that in aerobically grown roots, the basal root parts of almost all varieties secreted oxygen into the rhizosphere. When roots were grown in oxygen deficit environment, in stagnant water, oxygen diffusion from basal root parts ceased thus facilitating its delivery to the root tip. Studying of sulfide–induced barriers to rice root radial oxygen loss Armstrong and Armstrong (2005) demonstrated marked root cell wall suberization and thickening correlated with reduced permeability to oxygen.

Albrecht and Mustroff (2003) showed that, under conditions of hypoxia, an enhanced synthesis of cellulose and callose in wheat roots was determined by the activation of sucrose synthase. According to these authors, an activated synthesis of these compounds helped to strengthen the cell walls, which counteracted tissue injury at a low oxygen content. In experiments by Armstrong and Armstrong (2005b) with rice roots submerged in non-running water, sulfides sharply improved the root barrier properties. As a result, radial oxygen secretion from root into the rhizosphere was considerably reduced, water uptake by roots was suppressed, and the growth of lateral roots was retarded.

POST-ANAEROBIC DAMAGE AND ADAPTATION

Plants suffer not only from anaerobic stress itself but also in the period when they are returned to normal conditions of oxygen supply after a short-term or long-term anaerobiosis (oxidative stress). This is due to two different issues: first, electrons accumulated in the cell respiratory chain under oxygen deficiency are transferred to molecular oxygen with the generation of reactive species (superoxide ion, hydrogen peroxide), which attack fatty acid unsaturated bonds in membrane lipids, denature proteins and nucleic acids, thus damaging plant cells substantially. Secondly, the antioxidative capacity of cell is weakened during oxygen deficiency, which increases the damaging affect of the reactive oxygen species, ROS (Blokhina et al. 2000). It has also been shown that many stress situations lead to increased production of superoxide, which is mitigated experimentally by overexpressing SOD (Yan et al. 1996, Lee et al. 2007a).

Thus, along with carbohydrate and energy shortage and cytoplasmic acidification during anaerobic stress, plants are subjected to a serious danger in the post-anoxic period. As in the case of energy shortage and cytoplasmic acidification, tolerant plants have developed defense mechanisms neutralizing adverse effects of free oxygen radicals in the post-anaerobic period. This topic has been discussed in detail in a review of Blokhina *et al.* (2003); therefore, we only briefly consider it below.

Sources of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plant cells

As several review articles have been published recently both on the production of ROS and their scavenging by the many plant antioxidants as well as on the damage they may cause (Blokhina et al. 2003; Pitzschke et al. 2006), their production is but briefly described here, and the emphasis is placed on their signaling role in events during and after low oxygen stress. Generation of ROS is characteristic of all living tissues and cells and the delicate balance between their formation and quenching is strongly affected by low oxygen stress conditions. In the next paragraphs the focus is put on the new information emerging on the roles of ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), molecules ideally suited to act as signaling molecules during oxygen stress conditions. To date, ROS and RNS are known to play key roles in signaling during both biotic and abiotic stresses as well as during developmental processes (e.g. systemic acquired resistance, ozone stress, temperature extremes, stomatal closure, senescence) and their action is strongly suggested in PCD taking place in aerenchyma formation (Bouranis et al. 2003; Van Breusegem and Dat 2006; Bouranis et

al. 2007).

The initial step in ROS production requires initiation (one electron reduction), while subsequent reduction steps can proceed spontaneously in the presence of appropriate electron donors (Halliwell 2006). In plants the electron transport chains of chloroplasts and mitochondria are the main sources of electrons together with transition metal ions (Fe²⁺, Cu²⁺) and semiquinones. The highly reactive singlet oxygen (¹O₂) is produced in tissues under UV-exposure and during photoinhibition in chloroplasts, while hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and superoxide anion (O₂⁻) are both produced in a number of cellular reactions including the Mehler reaction in the chloroplasts, the iron catalyzed Fenton and Haber Weiss reactions, photorespiration and by various enzymes such as lipoxygenases, peroxidases, NADPH oxidase and xanthine oxidase. O₂⁻ is too reactive to pass membranes and is converted to H₂O₂ by compartment specific superoxide dismutase (SOD) isoforms.

The H₂O₂ molecule is relatively stable and less reactive than O₂, and is able to cross the lipid bilayer, a property which makes it a good candidate as a signaling species. It has been suggested also that H₂O₂ may pass the membrane through aquaporins, peroxide channels or other channels (Henzler and Steudle 2000; Ye and Steudle 2006). If so, the delivery of the H₂O₂ signal to a particular site can be indirectly regulated via aquaporin manipulation and, to some extent can solve the question of ROS signal specificity. It remains to be seen whether there are specific receptors for H₂O₂ in the plant cell.

A very reactive oxygen species, the hydroxyl radical OH•, is produced during the decomposition of ozone in the presence of protons in the apoplastic space and also in defence against pathogens (Bolwell *et al.* 2002), while the perhydroxyl radical O_2 H• can be produced in a reaction of ozone with hydroxyl ions.

Antioxidant systems

In plant tissues the adverse effect of free radicals is controlled by the presence of low-molecular-weight endogenous antioxidants as well as antioxidant enzymes. The first do not only include ascorbic acid, glutathione, and tocopherols, but also many phenolic compounds which can act as antioxidants. In antioxidant turnover the corresponding enzyme systems reducing oxidized forms of antioxidants are of importance (for a review, see Noctor and Foyer 1998). The second include enzymes interacting with reactive oxygen species, SOD, peroxidase and catalase, and thus blocking ROS action. There are also a number of enzymes detoxifying lipid peroxidation products (glutathione *S*-transferases, phospholipid-hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase and ascorbate peroxidase).

Low molecular weight antioxidants

Glutathione. Glutathione is a tripeptide (glutamylcysteinylglycine) and it is an abundant compound in plant tissues present in virtually all cell compartments: cytosol, ER, vacuole and mitochondria (Jimenez et al. 1998). GSH executes multiple functions and together with its oxidized form (GSSG) glutathione maintains the cellular redox balance. The latter property is of great biological importance, since it allows fine-tuning of the cellular redox environment under normal conditions and upon the onset of stress, and provides the basis for GSH stress signaling. Indeed, the role for GSH in redox regulation of gene expression has been described in many papers (e.g. Wingate et al. 1988; Alscher 1989). Due to redox properties of the GSH/GSSG pair and reduced SH-group of GSH, it can participate in the regulation of the cell cycle (Sanchez-Fernandez et al. 1997). The functioning of GSH as antioxidant under oxidative stress has received much attention during the last decade. It scavenges cytotoxic H₂O₂, and reacts non-enzymatically with other ROS: singlet oxygen, superoxide radical and hydroxyl radical (Larson 1988). The central role of GSH in the antioxidative defense is due to its ability to regenerate another powerful water-soluble antioxidant, ascorbic acid, via ascorbate-glutathione cycle (Foyer and Halliwell 1976; Noctor and Foyer 1998).

Ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) is one of the most studied and powerful antioxidants (Noctor and Foyer 1998; Arrigoni and de Tullio 2000; Horemans et al. 2000; Smirnoff 2000). It has not only been detected in the majority of plant cell types and cellular organelles, but also in the apoplast. Under physiological conditions ascorbic acid (AA) exists mostly in its reduced form (90% of the ascorbate pool) in leaves and chloroplasts (Smirnoff 2000); and its intracellular concentration can build up to the millimolar range (e.g. 20 mM in the cytosol and 20-300 mM in the chloroplast stroma (Foyer and Lelandais 1996). The ability to donate electrons in a wide range of enzymatic and non-enzymatic reactions makes AA the main ROS-detoxifying compound in the aqueous phase. AA can directly scavenge superoxide, hydroxyl radicals and singlet oxygen and reduce H₂O₂ to water via ascorbate peroxidase reaction (Noctor and Foyer 1998). In chloroplasts AA acts as a cofactor of violaxantin de-epoxidase thus sustaining dissipation of excess excitation energy (Smirnoff 2000). AA regenerates tocopherol from tocopheroxyl radicals thus providing membrane protection (Thomas et al. 1992). In addition, AA carries out a number of non-antioxidant functions in the cell. It has been implicated in the regulation of the cell division, cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase (Liso et al. 1988; Smirnoff 1996) and cell elongation (de Tullio et al. 1999).

Tocopherol (Vitamin E). The importance of tocopherols and tocotrienols lies in the fact that they are essential components of biological membranes where they have both antioxidant and non-antioxidant functions (Kagan 1989). α-Tocopherol with its three methyl substitutes has the highest antioxidant activity of tocopherols (Kamal-Eldin and Appelqvist 1996). The other three tocopherol and tocotrienol isomers are (β, γ, δ) . To copherols and to cotrienols consist of a chroman head group and a phytyl side chain giving vitamin E compounds an amphipathic character (Kamal-Eldin and Appelqvist 1996). Though antioxidant activity of tocotrienols vs. to copherols has been less studied, α -to cotrienol is proven to be a better antioxidant than α -tocopherol in the membrane environment (Packer et al. 2001). Tocopherols, synthesized only by plants and algae, are found in all plant parts (Janiszowska and Pennock 1976). Chloroplast membranes of higher plants contain α -tocopherol as the predominant tocopherol isomer, and are hence well protected against photooxidative damage (Fryer 1992)

The fact that makes Vitamin E especially important during the postanoxic phase in plant tissues is its chainbreaking antioxidant activity: It is able to repair oxidizing radicals directly, preventing the chain propagation step during lipid autoxidation (Serbinova and Packer 1994). It reacts with alkoxyl radicals (LO•), lipid peroxyl radicals (LOO•) and with alkyl radicals (L•), derived from PUFA oxidation (Buettner 1993; Kamal-Eldin and Appelqvist 1996). The reaction between vitamin E and lipid radicals occurs in the membrane-water interphase where vitamin E donates a hydrogen ion to the lipid radical with the consequent formation of tocopheroxyl radical (TOH•) formation (Buettner 1993). Regeneration of the tocopheroxyl radical back to its reduced form can be achieved by vitamin C (ascorbate), reduced glutathione (Fryer 1992) or coenzyme Q (Kagan et al. 2000). In addition, tocopherols may act as chemical scavengers of oxygen radicals, especially singlet oxygen, and as physical deactivators of singlet oxygen by charge transfer mechanism (Fryer 1992).

Phenolic compounds as antioxidants. Phenolics (flavonoids, tannins, hydroxycinnamate esters and lignin) are the largest group of secondary compounds in many plant tissues (Grace and Logan 2000). Polyphenols possess ideal structural chemistry for free radical scavenging activity, and they have been shown to be more effective antioxidants in vitro than tocopherols and ascorbate. Antioxidative properties of polyphenols arise from their high reactivity as hydrogen or electron donors, and from the ability of the polyphenolderived radical to stabilize and delocalize the unpaired electron (chain-breaking function), as well as their ability to chelate transition metal ions (termination of the Fenton reaction) (Rice-Evans et al. 1997). Another mechanism underlying the antioxidative properties of phenolics is the ability of flavonoids to alter peroxidation kinetics by modification of the lipid packing order and to decrease fluidity of the membranes (Arora et al. 2000). These changes could sterically hinder diffusion of free radicals and restrict peroxidative reactions. Moreover, it has been shown that phenolic compounds can be involved in the hydrogen peroxide scavenging cascade in plant cells (Takahama and Oniki 1997).

Enzymes participating in quenching ROS

Superoxide dismutase (SOD)

Enhanced formation of ROS under stress conditions may induce both protective responses and cellular damage. The scavenging of $O_2 {\scriptstyle\bullet}^{-}$ is achieved through the upstream enzyme - SOD, which catalyses the dismutation of superoxide to H₂O₂. This reaction has a 10,000-fold faster rate than spontaneous dismutation (Bowler et al. 1992). The enzyme is present in all aerobic organisms and in all subcellular compartments susceptible of oxidative stress (Bowler et al. 1992). These enzymes, classified by their metal cofactor, can be found in living organisms; they are the structurally similar FeSOD (prokaryotic organisms, chloroplast stroma) and MnSOD (prokaryotic organisms and the mitochondrion of eukaryotes); and the structurally unrelated Cu/ ZnSOD (cytosolic and chloroplast enzyme, Gram-negative bacteria). These isoenzymes differ in their sensitivity to H₂O₂ and KCN (Bannister et al. 1987). All three enzymes are nuclear encoded, and SOD genes have been shown to be sensitive to environmental stresses, presumably as a consequence of increased ROS formation. This has been shown in an experiment with corn (Zea mays), where a 7-day flooding treatment resulted in a significant increase in TBARS content, membrane permeability and the production of superoxide anion-radical and hydrogen peroxide in the leaves (Yan et al. 1996). In roots the activity of SOD was determined without a prolonged re-oxygenation period, immediately after termination of the anoxic treatment. Excessive accumulation of superoxide due to the reduced activity of SOD under flooding stress was also shown (Yan et al. 1996). On the whole, antioxidant defenses are induced in plants under mild oxidative stress conditions (Lee et al. 2007), while a severe stress, such as anoxia, results in antioxidant depletion or slowered turnover and hence increased oxidative damage on re-oxygenation (Blokhina et al. 1999).

As a result, after 3 days of anoxia the activity was 65% higher than in the control roots. In the more anoxia tolerant rice, anoxia did not affect SOD activity (Chirkova et al. 1999). Similar results were reported by Pavelic et al. (2000) for potato cell cultures during a post-anoxic period: only 60% of the initial specific SOD activity remained after 3h of reoxygenation. In cereals the activity of SOD has been found to decline depending on the duration of the anoxic treatment, while in Iris pseudacorus a 14-fold increase was observed during a reoxygenation period (Monk et al. 1989). An increase in total SOD activity was also detected in wheat roots under anoxia but not under hypoxia. The degree of increase positively correlated with duration of anoxia (Biemelt et al. 2000). Induction of SOD activity under hypoxia by 40-60% in roots and leaves under hypoxia of H. vulgare was shown by Kalashnikov et al. (1994)

Hence, investigations of SOD activity in different plant species under hypoxia (submergence) and/or anoxia have resulted in contradictory observations. The explanation can be found in different tolerance to anoxia between species and experimental setup (e.g. a prolonged reoxygenation period in the case of *Iris* spp., while in cereal roots activity of the enzyme was determined immediately after anoxia). The formation of ROS already under hypoxic conditions and during reoxygenation could cause a rapid substrate overload of constitutive SOD, while induction could be probably by other factors (e.g. time, activity of downstream enzymes in the ROS-detoxification cascade, inhibition by the end product (H₂O₂) and consequences of anoxic metabolism). Observations on SOD activity in different plant species under several stress conditions (drought, salinity and high/low temperature) suggest that different mechanisms may be involved in oxidative stress injury (Yu and Rengel 1999a, 1999b). Activation of oxygen may proceed through different mechanisms, not necessarily producing a substrate for SOD. It is well known that flooding stress causes a decrease in water transport from the roots to leaves resulting in stomatal closure and water stress in the leaves. In that case light stress can lead to the formation of highly reactive singlet oxygen (¹O₂). Changes in O₂ electronic configuration can lead to the formation of highly reactive singlet oxygen (¹O₂). Comparison of water stress effects in tolerant and intolerant wheat genotypes suggests that different mechanisms can participate in ROS detoxification. For example, water stress leads to increased SOD activity in wheat but it was deduced that not SOD but ascorbate oxidase and catalase were the limiting factors in drought tolerance of susceptible wheat genotypes (Sairam et al. 1998). In another experiment, oxidative stress conditions combined with cold acclimation of cold-resistant and non-resistant wheat cultivars, SOD activity in the leaves and in the roots was unaffected by the low temperature treatment but plants exhibited higher guaiacol peroxidase activity (Scebba et al. 1998). Inefficiency of ROS detoxifying enzymes (SOD, CAT, ascorbate peroxidase and non-specific peroxidase) has been shown under water deficit-induced oxidative stress in rice (Boo and Jung 1999). In this paper a decrease in enzymatic activity was accompanied by lipid peroxidation (LP), chlorophyll bleaching, loss of AA reduced glutathione (GSH), α -tocopherol and carotenoids in stressed plants. The authors suggested the formation of a certain strong prooxidant, which is neither superoxide nor H₂O₂ under the conditions of water deficit (Boo and Jung 1999). The ability of plants to overcome oxidative stress only partly relies on the induction of SOD activity and other factors can regulate the availability of the substrate for SOD: diversification of the pathways of ROS formation, compartmentalization of oxidative processes (charged ROS cannot penetrate the membrane) and compartmentalization of SOD isozymes. It is also possible that in different plant species and tissues different mechanisms are involved in the protection against oxidative stress.

Catalases and peroxidases. Catalases and peroxidases are important enzymes present in the intercellular spaces, where they can regulate the level of H2O2 (reviewed by Willekens et al. 1995). Catalase functions through an intermediate catalase-H₂O₂ complex (called Compound I) and produces water and dioxygen (catalase action) or can decay to the inactive Compound II. In the presence of an appropriate substrate Compound I drives the peroxidatic reaction. Compound I is a much more effective oxidant than H_2O_2 itself, thus the reaction of Compound I with another H_2O_2 molecule (catalase action) represents a one-electron transfer, which splits peroxide and produces another strong oxidant, the hydroxyl radical OH• (Elstner 1987). OH• is a very strong oxidant and can initiate radical chain reactions with organic molecules, particularly with PUFA in membrane lipids.

Under anoxia a differential response of the peroxidase system has been observed in coleoptiles and roots of rice seedlings. A decrease in activities of cell wall-bound guaiacol and syringaldazine peroxidase activities was reported, while soluble peroxidase activity was not affected in coleoptiles. In contrast anoxia-grown roots showed an increase in the cell wall-bound peroxidases (Lee and Lin 1995). Acclimation to anoxia has been shown to be dependent, at least partly, on peroxidases, which are up-regulated by anoxic stress in soybean cell cultures (Amor *et al.* 2000). In rice seedlings ADH and SOD activities responded non-significantly to submergence, while catalase activity increased upon re-oxygenation (Ushimaru *et al.* 1999).

Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase. A key enzyme in the protection of membranes exposed to oxidative stress is the phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase (PHGPX). It is inducible under various stress conditions. PHGPX can also react with H₂O₂ but this is a very slow process. The enzyme catalyses the regeneration of phospholipid hydroperoxides at the expense of GSH and is localised in the cytosol and the inner membrane of mitochondria of animal cells. A cDNA clone homologous to PHGPX has been isolated from tobacco, maize, soybean, and Arabidopsis (Sugimoto et al. 1997). The PHGPX protein and its encoded gene csa have been isolated and characterised in citrus. It has been shown that *csa* is directly induced by the substrate of PHGPX under heat, cold and salt stresses, and that this induction occurs mainly via the production of ROS (Avsian-Kretchmer et al. 1999). As ROS production increases also after flooding or anoxia, it is probable that the expression of this gene is induced after flooding stress.

Roles of ROS in signaling during hypoxic or anoxic stress

ROS are formed constitutively as by-products of oxidative metabolism. In most cases imposition of stress results in a shift in the redox balance towards oxidation. However, under hypoxic or anoxic stress, the redox balance is first shifted to reducing conditions and only after reaeration oxidations re-emerge and reactive oxygen species are formed. This is especially true in anoxia sensitive plants as their antioxidative capacity decreases during low oxygen conditions (Blokhina et al. 2000), and hence ROS formation may be enhanced after reoxygenation (Blokhina et al. 2001). These changes are brought about by enhanced ROS formation and/or by a decline in antioxidant capacity. A disturbed redox balance can itself be an inducing signal for defence mechanisms. Under normal physiological conditions (PCD during aerenchyma formation, stomatal movements) plant cells are able of controlled production of ROS as signaling molecules. Implication of ROS and particularly H_2O_2 in signaling has been shown in a number of abiotic stress responses such as oxygen deprivation, cell cycle regulation, cell death and wounding response (as reviewed in Blokhina et al. 2003 and Pitzschke et al. 2006) and can be transduced e.g. through protein cysteine oxidation (Cross and Templeton 2006).

Monitoring the expression of over 14,000 genes in catalase-deficient tobacco (CAT1AS) under H_2O_2 -inducing exposure to high light has revealed transcriptional responses that mimic those of both biotic and abiotic stresses such as low oxygen stress. Clustering and sequence analysis has revealed induction of genes responsible for hormonal biosynthesis, pathogen defense, mitochondrial metabolism, vesicular trafficking, proteolysis and cell death (Vandenabeele *et al.* 2003). The latter events are meaningful also in the context of PCD in aerenchyma formation. The role of H_2O_2 (and NO) has been studied further in the CATIAS mutant by Zago and coworkers (2006) and their work clearly points to PCD regulation.

It is still not fully understood how H_2O_2 signals are perceived and transduced in aerenchyma formation. In maize roots the appearance of superoxide anions and hydrogen peroxide has been shown in cortical cells, which degenerate to form aerenchyma through programmed cell death (Bouranis *et al.* 2003). In pea (*Pisum sativum*) roots the imposition of flooding has been shown to lead to programmed cell death as demonstrated with the TUNEL method and by DNA laddering in procambial and ground meristem tissues (Gladish *et al.* 2006). Although we do not know yet how H_2O_2 acts in aerenchyma formation or in the induction of protective events under flooding stress, it has known functions in related events. It has been shown that H_2O_2 is a potent inducer of specific mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase (ANP1) in *Arabidopsis*. ANP1 initiates a phosphorylation cascade by mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), which in turn lead to the induction of oxidative stress responsive genes (Kovtun *et al.* 2000). In another study, H_2O_2 exposure of *Arabidopsis* cells led to changed expression levels of 175 genes, of which 113 coded for proteins with antioxidant functions or were related to stress responses (Desikan *et al.* 2001).

The first redox-sensitive transcription factor that has been described in plants is NPR1, which acts as a regulator of plant systemic acquired resistance (SAR) (Mou et al. 2003). NPR1 function depends on ROS-mediated oxidation of reduced cysteine residues in a similar manner to E. coli OxyR and yeast Yap1 (as reviewed in Pitzschke et al. 2006). Another transcription factor that has been characterized recently is TaMYB1 from wheat roots and it is expressed during hypoxic conditions (Lee et al. 2007b). MYB transcription factors are known to be involved in abiotic stresses and the Myb binding site is vital for the anaerobic expression of the GapC4 promoter in tobacco (Geffers et al. 2001) and for the induction of ADH1 in Arabidopsis (Hoeren et al. 1998). Another transcription factor, NRF2, has also been shown to act in oxidative stress in mammalian and yeast cells, but it remains to be seen whether it is present in plant tissues (Karapetian et al. 2005).

 H_2O_2 is known also to act as a signaling molecule in defense against pathogens (Desikan *et al.* 2001), in growth and morphogenesis through the cell cycle, and in responses to many plant hormones such as ethylene and abscisic acid, which have known functions in plants under flooded conditions (Overmyer *et al.* 2003). It has also been shown that H_2O_2 -induced MAPK cascade in *Arabidopsis* represses auxin-inducible gene expression (Kovtun *et al.* 2000). However, it is known that the oxidative burst and cognate redox signaling work in a signal network that functions independently of ethylene, salicylic acid (SA) and methyl jasmonate (Me-JA) but is dependent on MAPKK activity (Grant *et al.* 2000).

DAVIES-ROBERTS pH-STAT THEORY

This concept, which was reviewed by Fox et al. (1995a, 1995b) and Ratcliffe (1997), was initially suggested by Davies et al. (1974), who studied the time-course of lactate and ethanol accumulation in cell-free extracts from pea seeds. According to this concept, the acidification of the cytoplasm during the first phase of anaerobiosis due to lactic fermentation results in inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase which exhibits optimum functioning at neutral pH and simultaneous activation of pyruvate decarboxylase (which has optimum activity at low pH). As a result, switching from lactic to ethanolic fermentation occurs. In organisms that cannot switch to ethanolic fermentation, further lactate accumulation leads to lowered cytoplasmic pH and eventually cell death due to cytoplasmic acidosis. Later studies, using NMR, confirmed the pH-stat theory (Roberts et al. 1982, 1984a, 1984b, 1985; Fan et al. 1988; Menegus et al. 1991; Xia and Roberts 1994; Fox et al. 1995a; Fan et al. 1997; Ratcliffe 1997; Chang et al. 2000; Fan et al. 2003). In particular, Roberts et al. (1982) used the pH-stat theory to explain results obtained with detached maize roots subjected to anaerobic stress in that there was a strong correlation between increased levels of lactate ions, cytoplasmic acidification and shortly followed by root tip death. When using weakly permeating bases and acids, researchers can change the cytoplasmic pH and induce a switch from one type of fermentation to another (Fox et al. 1995a), thus also arguing for the pH-stat theory. Thus, according to Davies-Roberts? concept (Davies 1980; Roberts et al. 1982, 1985), the acidification of the cytoplasm induces damage and eventually death of intolerant plants, whereas anoxia-tolerant plants control this acidification process by switching from lacticto ethanolic fermentation.

However, the results of other researchers sometimes contradicted those of Davies and Roberts. In particular, it was shown that switching from lactic to ethanolic fermentation during the early period of anaerobiosis did not occur in all plant species. For example, in barley roots, lactic fermentation under anaerobic conditions lasted for four days (Hoffman et al. 1986). When studying the induction of alcoholic and lactic fermentation in various organs of different plants (pea and rice roots, pea embryos, apple fruit, and Acer platanoides leaves) after their transfer from aerobic to anaerobic environment, Andreev and Vartapetian (1992) concluded that there is no single universal mechanism for the induction of alcoholic and lactic fermentation. Kennedy et al. (1992) suggested that the Davies-Roberts theory could not be applied to plants with true tolerance to anoxia, such as rice and Echinochloa. Finally, in studies performed with maize roots (Saint-Ges et al. 1991) cytoplasm acidification coincided in time with the hydrolysis of nucleotide triphosphates but not with lactate accumulation.

Along with changes in the cytoplasmic pH, the application of NMR permitted the monitoring of biochemical conversions of organic compounds *in vivo* under conditions of hypoxia and anoxia. In particular, following the ¹³Cacetate conversion under anoxic conditions showed label incorporation into citrate, glutamate, γ -aminobutyric acid, and succinate. Moreover, it was shown that the tricarboxylic acids and glyoxylate cycles function partially under anoxia (Fan *et al.* 2003).

Thus, changes and regulation of cytoplasmic pH occur not only as a result of lactate synthesis and nucleotide triphosphate hydrolysis but also because of the functioning of other anaerobic biochemical processes, including those catalyzed by glutamate dehydrogenase and malate decarboxylase. As a result, protons are consumed and pH of the cytoplasm is controlled. The enzymes responsible for the synthesis of alanine (Good and Crosby 1989) and γ -aminobutyric acid (Ford *et al.* 1996) are also actively involved in this process.

Some authors also consider the role of nitrate as a terminal acceptor of electrons during NAD⁺ recyclization (Fan *et al.* 1988). This protective role of nitrate was also demonstrated under anoxia in electron-microscopic studies (Vartapetian and Polyakova 1999; Polyakova and Vartapetian 2003). Fan *et al.* (1988) believe that the process of cytoplasm acidification is suppressed by nitrate accepting protons. In some plants, lactate removal from the cells also favors reduced cytoplasm acidity (Rivoal and Hanson 1994).

Thus, the application of NMR technology considerably facilitated the *in vivo* observation not only of cytoplasmic pH changes but also of the processes of cell carbon and nitrogen cell component interconversions under conditions of anaerobic stress (Ratcliffe 1997; Fan *et al.* 2003).

Finally, in several studies, it was shown that when plants are transferred from aerobic to anaerobic environments, lactic and ethanolic fermentation do not occur successively, as is predicted by the pH-stat theory of Davies-Roberts, but rather simultaneously (Andreev and Vartapetian 1992). Alternatively anaerobic respiration functions essentially without lactic fermentation (Menegus *et al.* 1991).

Nevertheless, both alternative points of view, i.e., damage and death of plant cells under anaerobic stress as a result of cytoplasm acidification or due to energy shortage determined by substrate starvation or insufficient activity of glycolysis and fermentation are under active investigation and discussion (Chang *et al.* 2000; Summers *et al.* 2000; Gout *et al.* 2001; Sato *et al* 2002; Fan *et al.* 2003; Jackson and Ram 2003; Ismond *et al.* 2003; Loretti *et al.* 2003; Vartapetian *et al.* 2003; Felle 2005; Harada *et al.* 2005; Huang *et al.* 2005; Dixon *et al.* 2006; Felle 2006; Sachs and Vartapetian 2007).

Data in favor of the significance of energy metabolism for both cytoplasm acidification and plant tolerance was obtained by Xia *et al.* (1995). The authors showed that mannose and NaF partially suppressed the rate of anaerobic fermentation (measured by ethanol accumulation), which was primarily induced by hypoxia. This resulted in a decrease in the content of ATP and total adenylates below the levels found in roots that were not subjected to hypoxia or treated with an inhibitor. Nevertheless, these conditions did not reduce the tolerance to anoxia of acclimated roots as well as their capability to regulate cytoplasmic pH. The authors suggested that hypoxic pretreatment could somehow improve the affinity of key enzymes for ATP and help maintain cytoplasmic pH maintenance. One such possibility is an enhanced lactate release into the surrounding medium, which might help to avoid cytoplasm acidification (Xia and Saglio 1992). Xia et al. (1995) indicated that under anoxia, survival of roots subjected to acclimation and control of cytoplasmic pH does not essentially depend on the actual ATP level in the cell, whereas the rate of ATP synthesis has greater significance. Although in these experiments, the level of ATP and energy charge in the root cells subjected to acclimation by hypoxia and treatments with inhibitors decreased, the rate of fermentation, i.e., ATP generation under anoxia, was 2.5- to 4-fold higher than in non-acclimated control roots. The threshold level of the fermentation (ATP production) in experimental roots, below which the roots lost their resistance to anoxia, was 2.5-fold higher than in control, non-acclimated roots. The authors concluded that a critical level of glycolytic flow under anoxia evidently reflects a lower rate of ATP production required for the maintenance of cell viability. Experiments by Generosova et al. (1998) with detached shoots of rice seedlings showed that exogenous cytoplasm acidification by exogenous application of a weak acid in fact markedly inhibited anaerobic growth of such flood-tolerant organs such as rice coleoptile. This "acid" effect could be weakened substantially by stimulating cell energy metabolism under anaerobic conditions with exogenous glucose. These results are in a good agreement with observations made on maize root tips and Acer pseudoplatanus cell cultures by NMR (Saint-Ges et al. 1991; Gout et al. 2001). It was shown that when plant cells were transferred from aerobic to anaerobic conditions, a simultaneous decrease in the cytoplasmic pH and the nucleotide triphosphate pool occurs. The authors believed that a sharp drop in pH during the early stages of anaerobiosis occurs because of nucleotide triphosphate hydrolysis. When anoxic A. pseudoplatanus cells were fed by glucose, the cytoplasmic pH partially increased due to ATP synthesis in the process of enhanced ethanolic fermentation.

ALTERNATIVE ELECTRON ACCEPTORS

Nitrate reduction into nitrite and ammonia under anoxia is considered by some researchers as a compensatory mechanism of NADH oxidation (Reggiani et al. 1985a; Fan et al. 1988; Ivanov and Andreev 1992; Fan et al. 1997; Antonacci et al. 2007). Such oxidation helps to escape cytoplasm acidification because nitrate reduction is proton consuming process functioning as biochemical pH-stat (Roberts et al. 1985; Fan et al. 1997; Oberson et al. 1999; Libourel et al. 2006). It is also believed that glycolysis and fermentation, i.e., anaerobic cell energy metabolism, could be accelerated by such way (Reggiani et al. 1985a, 1985b). According to other researchers, a positive physiological role of nitrate under hypoxia is no evident (Saglio et al. 1988). Finally, based on investigations of exogenous nitrate action on growth and energy metabolism in rice, pea, and wheat seedlings, it was concluded that nitrate effects on plant adaptation to anaerobic stress are negative (Ivanov and Andreev 1992).

In the study of Fan *et al.* (1988), it was shown that exogenous nitrate reduced ethanol accumulation in maize roots under conditions of anoxia whereas in other studies (Reggiani *et al.* 1985a, 1985b; Mattana *et al.* 1993; Müller *et al.* 1994), nitrate stimulated anaerobic respiration in the rice and *Carex* roots. Botler and Kaiser (1997) did not observe any enhancement of ethanolic fermentation in barley roots under anaerobiosis, although the activity of nitrate reductase increased substantially. Electron-microscopic examinations of exogenous nitrate effect on the ultrastructure of rice coleoptile and wheat root mitochondria under conditions of strict anoxia (Vartapetian and Polyakova 1999; Polyakova and Vartapetian 2003) allowed the conclusion that nitrate exerts a protective action under these extreme conditions. Thus, when detached roots and coleoptiles were incubated under anaerobiosis in the absence of nitrate, mitochondria were destroyed in 6-9 h and 24-48 h, correspondingly, whereas, in the presence of nitrate and under the same experimental conditions, mitochondria remained intact even after 9 h (root) and 48 h (coleoptile) of anaerobic incubation (Polyakova and Vartapetian 2003). The protective effects of nitrate in rice coleoptiles were evidently related to the stimulation of energy metabolism because, in rice coleoptiles under anoxia, ethanolic fermentation prevails but not lactic fermentation leading to proton accumulation (Menegus et al. 1991). On the other hand, in rice coleoptile exposed to anoxia, nitrates are reduced to NH₄ and amino acids (Mattana et al. 1993), whereas, in roots nitrates are reduced to nitrite (Botrel and Kaiser 1997).

The beneficial effect of nitrate in relation both cytoplasmic acidification and plant survival under anoxia was recently confirmed (Stoimenova *et al.* 2003; Allegre *et al.* 2004; Libourel *et al.* 2006; Antonacci *et al.* 2007). However, there is some doubt in relation to above mentioned explanations of mechanisms responsible for protective effect of nitrate in the absence of molecular oxygen. Moreover, basing on accumulated experimental data Libourel *et al.* (2006) concluded that the reason for the beneficial effect of nitrate on pH regulation under anoxia is unknown. The results of *in vivo* ³¹P NMR spectroscopy investigation of both nitrate and nitrite effects on cytoplasma acidification of *Zea mays* root segment under anoxia demonstrated unexpectedly that beneficial effect of nitrate should be explained by anaerobic reduction of nitrite to nitric oxide but not nitrate to nitrite (Libourel *et al.* 2006).

The physiological role of class 1 haemoglobin in oxidation of NO, generated in plant cell under hypoxia as a result of nitrate reduction (haemoglobin-based nitrate recycling), we have discussed in the previous section of this review.

Kennedy et al. (1991) believed that, along with nitrate, anaerobically synthesized lipids could serve as alternative terminal acceptors of electrons and protons under conditions of anaerobic stress. In addition, it was suggested that unsaturated fatty acids (FAs) could serve as proton acceptors under anoxia (Zs.-Nagy and Galli 1977; Chirkova 1988). Henzi and Brändle (1993) showed that, during a 70day-long anaerobiosis exposure of the rhizomes of some plants inhabiting flooding soils, the degree of FA saturation increased and the amount of unsaturated FAs, especially linolenic acid, was reduced. The role of anaerobically synthesized lipids, as alternative electron acceptors for plants under anaerobic stress was studied in experiments on the weed growing in rice fields Echinochloa phyllopogon (Kennedy et al. 1991; Fox et al. 1994) for which seeds, as for rice seeds, germinate easily under anoxic conditions (Kennedy et al. 1980). The authors showed that during anaerobic germination of *E. phyllopogon* seeds, primary leaves ac-tively accumulated lipid bodies (spherosomes). It was concluded that lipids synthesized de novo under anoxia served as acceptors of electrons and protons. The authors considered this phenomenon as a biochemical mechanism of adaptation to anoxia of such tolerant plants such as E. phyllopogon and rice seedlings (Kennedy et al. 1991; Fox et al. 1994). In fact, Vartapetian et al. (1978c) and Kennedy et al. (1991) demonstrated experimentally that lipid precursors, ¹⁴C-acetate and ³H-glycerol, were incorporated under anoxia into the molecules of phospholipids, glycolipids, and neutral lipids of primary leaves of rice and E. phyllopogon seedlings. However during the course of anaerobic lipid biosynthesis of lipids in rice coleoptiles the lipid precursor ¹⁴C-acetate was only incorporated only in saturated but not in unsaturated fatty acids (Vartapetian et al. 1978c). In experiments with three- and seven-day old rice coleoptiles

Brown and Beevers (1987) also demonstrated that no significant increase occurred in unsaturated fatty acids took place during anaerobic growth of coleoptiles. Only a small increase in saturated fatty acids could be detected under anoxia. Subsequent electron-microscopic and biochemical studies with anaerobically germinated rice seeds (Vartapetian et al. 2003; Generozova and Vartapetian 2005) showed that under conditions of anaerobiosis, rice coleoptiles did not accumulate lipid bodies and that the level of FAs did not markedly increase. FA saturation was also not observed: index of their saturation was practically similar before and after long-term anaerobic incubation of germinating seeds. It was concluded that neither lipid unsaturated FAs of lipids nor anaerobically synthesized lipids function as terminal acceptors of electrons as an alternative to molecular oxygen in rice seedlings under anaerobic conditions. Studies of various lipid classes in rice seedlings grown under aerobic and anaerobic conditions (Vartapetian et al. 1978b) also favor this point of view, to some degree. In these latter experiments, no substantial differences in qualitative and quantitative composition of lipid FAs between seedlings grown under contrasting conditions was not found. Hence, the results of the aforementioned experiments with incorporation of ¹⁴C-acetate and ³H-glycerol into various lipid classes under anoxia (Vartapetian et al. 1978c; Kennedy et al. 1991) can be considered as a demonstration of saturated FA turnover in lipids without a corresponding lipid accumulation or FA saturation.

Thus, in contrast to conclusions of Kennedy and coworkers (Kennedy *et al.* 1991; Fox *et al.* 1994) and some other researchers (Zs.-Nagy and Galli 1977; Chirkova 1988), it was concluded that under conditions of anaerobic stress, neither lipid synthesis and accumulation nor FA saturation in rice seedlings could be considered as an alternative mechanism of electron acceptation and plant adaptation to anaerobic stress (Vartapetian *et al.* 2003; Generozova and Vartapetian 2005).

DEMONSTRATION OF ADAPTATION SYNDROME IN PLANTS UNDER ANAEROBIC STRESS

The exposure of plant organs and tissues that are sensitive to anaerobic stress at oxygen deficiency results in characteristic changes primary in the mitochondrial membrane ultrastructure; namely, the cristae disappear and mitochondria themselves are subjected to swelling (Vartapetian et al. 2003). Early changes in the mitochondrial structure are reversible: after a plant is transferred back to aerobic conditions, their ultrastructure and capacity for oxidative phosphorylation is completely restored (Andreev et al. 1996). During longer anaerobiosis treatments, destructive changes in mitochondria become more pronounced, mitochondrial degradation becomes irreversible and the cells die. When plant cells or organs are tolerant to anoxia i.e., rice coleoptiles (Vartapetian et al. 1978a, 2003), or the resistance to anoxia of not tolerant plant organs is increased artificially by feeding with exogenous sugar (Vartapetian et al. 1977), there is no destructive changes in mitochondria under rather long-term oxygen deficiency. However, mitochondria will often acquire an elongated shape, and/or the cristae are positioned in parallel rows (Vartapetian et al. 1977, 2003).

A more detailed electron-microscopic examination of the initial stage of anaerobiosis revealed unexpected rearrangements of the mitochondrial ultrastructure, which were not noticed in earlier experiments. In maize and wheat seedlings as soon as 15-30 min and in pea roots even within 2 min after their transfer from aerobic to anaerobic environment, an obvious destruction of some mitochondria was observed (Generozova *et al.* 1984; Vartapetian *et al.* 1987; Andreev *et al.* 1991). After 60-90 min, almost all mitochondria swelled and lost their cristae. However, during an extended exposure to anaerobiosis, mitochondria did not continue to degrade but, in contrast, completely restored their initial ultrastructure. By 3-5 h of anaerobiosis, the mitochondrial matrix became denser and cristae reappeared. This state of ultrastructure was maintained for several hours. Following this period, a new wave of mitochondrial destruction occurred, which after 24 h for leaves and within 12-24 h for roots, resulted in irreversible degradation of mitochondria and other cell organelles.

In order to elucidate possible molecular mechanisms of such unexpected ultrastructural rearrangements of mitochondrial membranes, we performed an anaerobic incubation of wheat leaves in the presence of exogenous glucose because, in earlier experiments, as was aforementioned, such feeding enhanced glycolysis and fermentation, thus maintaining a high level of the cell energy status and intact ultrastructure of mitochondria. In fact, when feeding with glucose, there were no signs of mitochondrial destruction after either 30, or 60, or 90 min of anaerobiosis (Vartapetian et al. 2003). These results of these experiments seemingly indicate that early mitochondrial membrane destruction in the absence of exogenous glucose occurs due to substrate starvation. However, subsequent restoration of mitochondrial ultrastructure under lasting anaerobic incubation in the absence of exogenous glucose contradicts this supposition about substrate starvation.

A possible hypothesis to explain this phenomenon is that, with increasing duration of anaerobic incubation, anaerobic proteins, including enzymes of glycolysis and fermentation, are synthesized, which accelerates glycolysis and ATP generation and, correspondingly, favors restoration of the mitochondrial ultrastructure. To verify this hypothesis, plant anaerobic incubation was performed in the presence of 10^{-5} M cycloheximide, thus inhibiting the synthesis of de novo proteins. Under these conditions, mitochondria swelled in 30-90 min. However, as distinct from treatment in the absence of cycloheximide, subsequent restoration of their ultrastructure in 3-5 h of anaerobic incubation was not observed. In contrast, within 6-9 h, irreversible degradation of mitochondria occurred (Vartapetian et al. 2003). The results of these experiments lead to a model showing that cell energy metabolism plays a key role in early destruction and subsequent regeneration of mitochondrial ultrastructure. During 3-5 h, both feeding with glucose and the synthesis of anaerobic proteins (most of them are enzymes of glycolysis and fermentation and also other related processes of carbohydrate metabolism) favor corresponding enzymesubstrate interaction. At the same time, ATP generation is enhanced, which favors the restoration of mitochondrial membrane fine structure. It should be noted that Van Toai and Bolles (1991) observed a similar situation when studying post-anaerobic Glycine max cell injury with reactive oxygen species. The authors transferred the cells after 1-2 h of anaerobiosis to an aerobic environment and observed that they were damaged by reactive oxygen species. When the cells were transferred to an aerobic environment after 3-5 h of anaerobiosis, damage was insignificant or absent, evidently due to anaerobic synthesis of SOD, a scavenger of oxygen radicals.

The above-described phenomenon of ultrastructural rearrangements of mitochondrial membranes, which was observed initially in experiments with various maize organs (Generozova *et al.* 1984), was also described for the roots of anaerobically incubated maize seedlings (Aldrich *et al.* 1985). However, reversible destruction of mitochondrial membranes occurred in these experiments of Aldrich *et al.* (1985) during 8-26 h of anaerobiosis, whereas, in experiments of Generozova *et al.* (1984) similar rearrangements occurred during much shorter exposures to anaerobic conditions while under such long-term anaerobiosis, mitochondria and other cell organelles in the maize roots displayed obvious signs of degradation.

The phenomenon of reversibility of mitochondrial membrane destruction and restoration under extreme conditions of continuous anaerobic stress is of some historical interest as well. The results of these experiments demonstrated at the subcellular level the applicability to plants of the concept of "general adaptation syndrome", which was put forward by the physician Hans Selye about 60 years ago for animals and human (Selye 1950), to understand the putative mechanisms functioning under stress conditions. According to Selye, human and animal responses to unfavorable conditions consists of three successive stages: the state of unspecific stress or "alarm" stage (in our case, reversible destruction of mitochondrial membranes in leaves and roots); "adaptation" state (in our case, the recovery of initial mitochondrial ultrastructure in leaves and roots); and finally "exhaustion" state (in our case, irreversible degradation of mitochondrial membranes in leaves and roots at more prolonged anaerobic incubation).

GENETIC AND CELLULAR ENGINEERING

Taking into account the role of glycolysis and alcoholic fermentation in plant adaptation to hypoxia and anoxia, attempts were made to increase the rate of ethanolic fermentation and thus plant tolerance by genetic engineering manipulations (Bücher et al. 1994; Tadege et al. 1998; Quimio et al. 2000; Rahman et al. 2001; Ismond et al. 2003). Thus, in experiments of Bücher et al. (1994), transgenic tobacco plants were obtained by insertion of the pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC) gene from the obligatory anaerobic bacterium Zymomonas mobilis into the plant genome. The transgenic exhibited an increased content of PDC protein in leaves and an increased activity of the enzyme in vitro and in vivo. Correspondingly, during the first 2-4 h of anoxia, the leaves of the transgenic tobacco accumulated more acetaldehyde (by 10-35 times) and ethanol (by 8-20 times) than the leaves of wild-type plants. However, the plants did not display an improved tolerance to anoxia. Tadege et al. (1998) also inserted the PDC gene from Z. mobilis into the tobacco genome. The accumulation pattern of the products of ethanolic fermentation in plant roots differed somewhat from that observed earlier by Bücher et al. (1994). Since the initial activity of pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC) in wildtype tobacco roots was much higher than in leaves, the introduction of the bacterial gene resulted in an insignificant enzyme activation and, correspondingly, a lower accumulation of acetaldehyde and ethanol in the roots as compared with the leaves. Nevertheless, the acceleration of ethanolic fermentation in transgenic roots, in fact reduced root tolerance to anoxia. The authors supposed that an enhanced carbohydrate consumption in the process of accelerated glycolysis and fermentation exhausted tissues in substrates for glycolysis. Thus, substrate starvation caused a more rapid death of transgenic plants under anoxia. In fact, feeding of transgenic plants with exogenous sugars improved their tolerance to anoxia (Tadege et al. 1998).

Quimio et al. (2000), but not Rahman et al. (2001), reported an improved tolerance to submergence of transgenic rice seedlings over-expressing a PDC gene. The results obtained by Ismond at al. (2003) are more supportive. They manipulated the level of enzymes of alcoholic fermentation, pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC) and alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH), in transgenic Arabidopsis plants. In contrast to the results of Tadege et al. (1998), the Arabidopsis with a transgenic PDC gene not only displayed an accelerated ethanolic fermentation but also a higher tolerance to hypoxia as compared to wild-type plants. In contrast to the PDC transgenic plants, Arabidopsis with a transgenic ADH gene exhibited an increase in the ADH activity that did not result in improved tolerance. Furthermore, in the adh1 mutant, accumulation of acetaldehyde dropped sharply and plant tolerance to low-oxygen stress was strongly reduced. A high sensitivity of Arabidopsis ADH null mutants to hypoxia, as in the previous experiments of Schwartz (1969) in maize, could be induced by acetaldehyde accumulation, which quantity rose sharply in the cells devoid of ADH and, this correspondingly, lessens the possibility for reducing acetaldehyde and thus no longer protecting the cells from its toxic effects. Along with the acetaldehyde accumulation it is impossible to exclude the probable accumulation of pyruvate which could result, with the involvement of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), in the accumulation of toxic amounts of lactate or acidosis. Ismond *et al.* (2003) performed experiments on plant feeding with 3% sucrose and showed that a sufficient supply of substrate to the plant helped to improve their tolerance to oxygen deficiency. This conclusion is in a good agreement with the results of earlier experiments (Vartapetian *et al.* 1977, 1978a) and subsequent data of others researchers (Saglio *et al.* 1980; Brändle 1985; Johnson *et al.* 1989; Waters *et al.* 1991; Hole *et al.* 1992; Xia and Saglio 1992; Xia *et al.* 1995; Ricard *et al.* 1998; Tadege *et al.* 1998; Loreti *et al.* 2003).

On the basis of their studies, Ismond *et al.* (2003) concluded that PDC activity is tightly related to the rate of carbon flow along the pathway of ethanolic fermentation and determines a tolerance to low-oxygen stress, i.e., PDC immediately controls ethanolic fermentation. Thus, the results obtained by Ismond *et al.* (2003) substantially supported the idea of a key role for energy metabolism in the true plant tolerance to anaerobic stress (Vartapetian *et al.* 1977, 1978a, 2003).

Another approach applied to create plants more tolerant to anaerobic stress has been the selection of cultured sugarcane *Saccharum officinarum* and wheat *Triticum aestivum* cell lines (Stepanova *et al.* 2002; Vartapetian *et al.* 2003). In these experiments, calli derived from the meristem of sugarcane and wheat embryos and grown under aerobic conditions on a modified Murashige and Skoog (MS) nutrient medium (Kharinarain *et al.* 1996) were then subjected to a stepwise selection under anoxia of increasing duration.

Based on the notion of a key role of carbohydrate and energy metabolism in plant cell tolerance to anaerobiosis (Vartapetian et al. 1977, 1978a) exogenous sugar was excluded from the MS nutrient medium during anaerobic incubation. This circumstance most likely had a decisive consequence for successive selection of more tolerant cells because, under these conditions, cell tolerance to the absence of oxygen was entirely determined by mobilization of endogenous carbohydrate reserves and their subsequent utilization in the processes of energy metabolism (glycolysis, fermentation). The presence of exogenous sugars in MS medium could substantially affect all these processes making even impossible the selection of tolerant cells. The results of electron-microscopic examinations and also a cell capacity for post-anaerobic growth showed that the cells selected in such a way were much more tolerant to anoxia than control, initial cells. Plants regenerated from such tolerant cells turned out to be more tolerant to soil anaerobiosis than the parent plants, which were used for callus production (Stepanova et al. 2002; Vartapetian et al. 2003).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Studies on plant anaerobic stress during past decades confirmed and substantially developed the concept of two general strategies of plant adaptation to hypoxia and anoxia. Based on the scientific advances that demonstrated the key role of energy and related processes of carbohydrate mobilization and utilization in plant metabolic adaptation to oxygen deficiency, the first attempts were made to create plants more tolerant to anaerobic stress using biotechnological approaches (such as gene and cell engineering) for stimulation and regulation of plant energy metabolism (glycolysis and fermentation).

This review paid special attention to the second general strategy of plant adaptation to oxygen deficiency in the environment by formation of aerenchyma and distant transport of molecular oxygen, i.e. by avoidance of anaerobiosis. Accordingly, special attention is paid to mechanism of aerenchyma formation, which considerably facilitates O_2 transport from aerated plant parts to the organs located in an anaerobic environment. Progress in the studies of aerenchyma formation and oxygen transport from aerated plant parts to the roots located in an anaerobic environment resulted in new essential evidence of the pivotal role of distant transport of molecular oxygen, rather than root metabolic adaptation, in the maintenance of vital functions of the

plants inhabiting submerged and waterlogged soils. Marked success was also achieved in identifying of signaling systems and molecular mechanisms that function both in tolerant and intolerant plants under hypoxia and anoxia in the process of aerenchyma formation.

Progress has been made in the studies of the role of both post-anaerobic oxidative stress in plants, and of protective low molecular weight systems and enzymatic mechanisms operating under such stress conditions. Both of these mechanisms play an important role under normal aerobic conditions and especially during post-anoxic recovery of plant tissues. In addition to the well-known antioxidants, plants contain numerous small molecular compounds, which have their main functions elsewhere in metabolism, but which have antioxidative properties. Such compounds, e.g. of phenolic origin, may have yet undiscovered significance in the protection of plant cells against oxidative damage.

The chemistry of the production of various ROS and RNS has been studied in detail in plants under normal conditions as well as under biotic and abiotic stresses such as low oxygen availability, but many molecular level interactions are still unclear. At the moment research efforts are concentrating on the signaling roles and routes of the various reactive species and their crosstalk, not only under different stress conditions but also in the regulation of developmental events. Some details of this obviously intricate signaling network are beginning to emerge, while others, such as the probable ROS or RNS interaction with many other transcription factors than just NPR1, remain elusive.

During the last decades considerable advances were also achieved in NMR-studies of the role of lactate and ethanolic fermentation in plant adaptation to anaerobic stress. A predominant role of ethanolic fermentation has become evident in both anaerobic energy generation and intracellular stabilization. Nevertheless, some experimental evidence has been accumulated suggesting that in addition to lactate and ethanolic fermentation, other biochemical processes associated with electron and proton acceptance have an important part in stabilization of cellular environment under hypoxic and anoxic stresses. Specifically, the role of nitrate as one of such terminal electron acceptors was rather convincingly demonstrated in some studies. Lastly, experiments on the plants exposed to anaerobic stress have for the first time visualized and demonstrated on the subcellular level the phenomenon of adaptation syndrome in plants and possible mechanisms of its realization on molecular level.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, project no. 06-04-48446 - a. The authors are grateful to L.I. Polyakova for help in the preparation of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Albrecht G, Mustroph A (2003) Sucrose utilization via invertase and sucrose synthase with respect to accumulation of cellulose and callose synthesis in wheat roots under oxygen deficiency. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 50, 907-915 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* English Translation 813-820)
- Alderton WK, Cooper CE, Knowles RG (2001) Nitric oxide synthases: structure, function and inhibition. *Biochemical Journal* 357, 593-615
- Aldrich HC, Ferl RJ, Hils MH, Akin DE (1985) Ultrastructural correlates of anaerobic stress in corn roots. *Tissue Cell* 17, 341-348
- Allegre A, Silvestre J, Morard P, Kallerhoff J, Pinelli E (2004) Nitrate reductase regulation in tomato roots by exogenous nitrate: a possible role in tolerance to long-term root anoxia. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 55, 2625-2634
- Almeida AM, Vriezen WH, van der Straeten D (2003) Molecular and physiological mechanisms of flooding avoidance and tolerance in rice. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 50, 832-840 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology English Translation* 743-751)
- Alscher RG (1989) Biosynthesis and antioxidant function of glutathione in plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* 77, 457-464
- Amor Y, Chevion M, Levine A (2000) Anoxia pretreatment protects soybean cells against H₂O₂ – induced cell death: possible involvement of peroxidases and of alternative oxidase. *FEBS Letters* **477**, 175-180

- Andreeva IN, Nuritdinov N, Vartapetian BB (1979) Root ultrastructure and oxygen transport in cotton plants, *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 26, 1257-1264 (Soviet Journal of Plant Physiology English Translation 1017-1023)
- Andreev VYu, Generozova IP, Polyakova LI, Vartapetian BB (1996) Glycolytic activity and resistance to anoxia in excised roots of *Pisum sativum* L. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 43, 227-228 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology English Translation* 236-241)
- Andreev VYu, Generozova IP, Vartapetian BB (1991) Energy status and mitochondrial ultrastructure of excised pea root at anoxia and postanoxia. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 29, 171-176
- Andreev VYu, Vartapetian BB (1992) Induction of alcoholic and lactic fermentation in the early stages of anaerobic incubation of higher plants. *Phytochemistry* 31, 1859-1861
- Antonacci S, Maggiore T, Ferrante A (2007) Nitrate metabolism in plants under hypoxic and anoxic conditions. *Plant Stress* 1, 136-141
- Appleby CA, Boguaz D, Dennis ES, Peacock WJ (1988) A role for haemoglobin in all plant roots. *Plant Cell and Environment* 11, 359-367
- Ap Rees T, Jenkin LET, Smith AM, Wilson PM (1987) The metabolism of flood-tolerant plants. In: Crawford RMM (Ed) Plant Life in Aquatic and Amphibious Habitats, Blackwell Science, Oxford, pp 227-238
- Ap Rees T, Wilson PM (1984) Effect of reduced supply of oxygen on the metabolism of roots of *Glyceria maxima* and *Pisum sativum*. *Pflanzenphysiologie* 114, 493-503
- Armstrong W (1970) Rhizosphere oxidation in rice and other species: a mathematical model based on the oxygen flux component. *Physiologia Plantarum* 23, 623-630
- Armstrong W (1978) Root aeration in the wetland condition. In: Hook DD, Crawford RMM (Eds) *Plant Life in Anaerobic Environments*, Ann Arbor Science, Michigan, pp 269-297
- Armstrong W (1979) Aeration in higher plants. Advances in Botanical Research 7, 225-332
- Armstrong W, Armstrong J (2005a) Exploring the effects of pressurized ventilation, diffusion and photosynthesis on root aeration in alder and willow. 8th Conference of the International Society for Plant Anaerobiosis, 20-24 September 2004, Perth, Western Australia, p 25 (Abstract)
- Armstrong J, Armstrong W (2005b) Rice: sulfide-induced barriers to root radial oxygen loss, Fe²⁺ and water uptake, and lateral root emergence. *Annals* of Botany 96, 625-638
- Armstrong W, Beckett PM (1987) Internal aeration and the development of stelar anoxia in submerged roots: multishelled mathematical model combining axial diffusion of oxygen in the cortex with radial loses to the stele, the wall layers, and rhizosphere. New Phytologist 105, 221-245
- Armstrong W, Brändle R, Jackson MB (1994) Mechanisms of flood tolerance in plants. Acta Botanica Neerlandica 43, 307-358
- Arora A, Byrem TM, Nair MG, Strasburg GM (2000) Modulation of liposomal membrane fluidity by flavonoids and isoflavonoids. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 373, 102-109
- Arrigoni O, de Tullio MC (2000) The role of ascorbic acid in cell metabolism: between gene-directed functions and unpredictable chemical reactions. *Journal Plant Physiology* 157, 481-488
- Aschi-Smith S, Chaibi W, Brouquisse R, Ricard B, Saglio P (2003) Assessment of enzyme induction and aerenchyma formation as mechanisms for flooding tolerance in *Trifolium subterraneum* "Park". Annals of Botany 91, 195-204
- Avsian-Kretchmer O, Eshdat Y, Gueta-Dahan Y, Ben-Hayyim G (1999) Regulation of stress-induced phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase expression in citrus. *Planta* 209, 469-477
- Bannister JV, Bannister WH, Rotilio G (1987) Aspects of the structure, function and applications of superoxide dismutase. *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry* 22, 111-180
- Baron K, Dordas C, Hill RD (2004) Growth morphology and flooding tolerance of transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) Expressing varying levels of a hypoxia-inducible barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) haemoglobin. 8th Conference of the International Society of Plant Anaerobiosis, 20-24 September 2004, Perth, Western Australia, p 21 (Abstract)
- Beckett PM, Armstrong W, Justin SHFW, Armstrong J (1988) On the relative importance of convective and diffusive gas flows in plant aeration. New Phytologist 110, 463-468
- Beligni MV, Lamattina L (2001) Nitric oxide: a non-traditional regulator of plant growth. Trends in Plant Science 6, 508-509
- Bethke PC, Badger MR, Jones RL (2004) Apoplastic synthesis of nitric oxide by plant tissues. *Plant Cell* 16, 332-341
- Biemelt S, Keetman U, Mock H-P, Grimm B (2000) Expression and activity of isoenzymes of superoxide dismutase in wheat roots in response to hypoxia and anoxia. *Plant Cell and Environment* 23, 135-144
- Blokhina O, Chirkova TV, Fagerstedt KV (2001) Anoxic stress leads to hydrogen peroxide formation in plant cells. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 52, 1179-1190
- Blokhina OB, Fagerstedt KV, Chirkova TV (1999) Relationships between lipid peroxidation and anoxia tolerance in a range of species during postanoxic reaeration. *Physiologia Plantarum* 105, 625-632
- Blokhina O, Virolainen E, Fagerstedt KV (2003) Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress: a review. Annals of Botany 91, 179-194

- Blokhina O, Virolainen E, Fagerstedt KV, Hoikkala A, Wähälä K, Chirkova TV (2000) Antioxidant status of anoxia-tolerant and -intolerant plant species under anoxia and reaeration. *Physiologia Plantarum* 109, 396-403
- Blom CWPM (1999) Adaptations to flooding stress: from plant community to molecule. *Plant Biology* 1, 261-273
- Boamfa EI, Ram PC, Jackson MB, Reuss J, Harren FJM (2003) Dynamic aspects of alcohol fermentation of rice seedlings in response to anaerobiosis and to complete submergence: relationship to submergence tolerance. *Annals* of Botany 91, 279-290
- Bolwell GP, Bindschedler LV, Blee KA, Butt VS, Davies DR, Gardner SL, Gerrish C, Minibayeva F (2002) The apoplastic oxidative burst in response to biotic stress in plants: a three-component system. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 1367-1376
- Boo YC, Jung J (1999) Water deficit-induced oxidative stress and antioxidative defenses in rice plants. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **155**, 255-261
- Borutaite V, Brown GC (2003) Nitric oxide induces apoptosis via hydrogen peroxide, but necrosis via energy and thiol depletion. *Free Radicals in Biological Medicine* 35, 1457-1468
- Botrel A, Kaiser W (1997) Nitrate reductase activation state in barley roots in relation to the energy and carbohydrate status. *Planta* **201**, 496-501
- Bouranis DL, Chorianopoulou SN, Siyiannis VF, Protonotarios VE, Hawkesford MJ (2003) Aerenchyma formation in roots of maize during sulphate starvation. *Planta* 217, 382-391
- Bouranis DL, Chorianopoulou SN, Siyiannis VF, Protonotarios VE, Hawkesford MJ (2007) Lysigenous aerenchyma development in roots – triggers and cross-talks for a cell elimination program. *International Journal of Plant Developmental Biology* 1, 127-140
- Bowler C, van Montagu M, Inzé D (1992) Superoxide dismutase and stress tolerance. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 43, 83-116
- Bragina TV, Rodionova NA, Grinieva GM (2003) Ethylene production and activation of hydrolytic enzymes during acclimation of maize seedlings to partial flooding. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 50, 886-890 (*Russian Journal* of *Plant Physiology* English Translation 794-798)
- Brailsford RW, Voesenek LACJ, Blo CWPM, Smith AR, Hall MA, Jackson MB (1993) Enhanced ethylene production by primary roots of *Zea mays L*. in response to sub-ambient partial pressures of oxygen. *Plant Cell and Environment* 16, 1071-1080
- Brändle R (1985) Kohlehydratgehalte und Vitalitat Isolierter Rhizome von Phragmites australis, Schoenoplectus lacustris und Typha latifolia nach Mehrwochigen O₂ – Mangelstress. Flora 177, 317-321
- Brown DJ, Beevers H (1987) Fatty acids of rice coleoptiles in air and anoxia. *Plant Physiology* **84**, 555-559
- Bücher M, Brändle R, Kuhlemeier C (1994) Ethanolic fermentation in transgenic tobacco expressing Zymomonas mobilis pyruvate decarboxylase. The EMBO Journal 13, 755-763
- **Buettner GR** (1993) The pecking order of free radicals and antioxidants: lipid peroxidation, α-tocopherol, and ascorbate. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **300**, 535-543
- Campbell R, Drew MC (1983) Electron microscopy of gas space (aerenchyma) formation in adventitious roots of Zea mays L. subjected to oxygen shortage. Planta 157, 350-357
- Carimini F, Zottini M, Formentin E, Terzi M, Lo Schiavo F (2002) Cytokinins, new apoptotic inducers in plants. *Planta* 216, 413-421
- Carlson SJ, Chourey PS, Helentjaris T, Datta R (2002) Gene expression studies on developing kernels of maize sucrose synthase (SuSy) mutants show evidence for a third SuSy gene. *Plant Molecular Biology* 49, 15-29
- Chandok MR, Ytterberg AJ, Wjk van KJ, Klessig DF (2003) The pathogeninducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in plants is a variant of the P protein of the glycine decarboxylase complex. *Cell* **113**, 469-482
- Chang WWP, Huang L, Shen M, Webster C, Burlingame AL, Roberts JKM (2000) Patterns of protein synthesis and tolerance of anoxia in root tips of maize seedlings acclimated to a low-oxygen environment, and identification of proteins by mass spectrometry. *Plant Physiology* **122**, 295-318
- Chichkova NV, Kim SH, Titova ES, Kalkum M, Morozov VS, Rubtsov YP, Kalinina NO, Taliansky ME, Vartapetian AB (2004) A plant caspase-like protease activated during the hypersensitive response. *Plant Cell* 16, 157-171
- **Chirkova TV** (1988) Adaptatsiya rastenii k gipoksii i anoksii (Plant adaptation to hypoxia and anoxia). PhD thesis, Leningrad State University, 244 pp (in Russian)
- Chirkova TV, Novitskaya LO, Blokhina OB (1999) Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant systems under anoxia in plants differing in their tolerance to oxygen deficiency. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 45, 55-62
- Chourey PS (1981) Genetic control of sucrose synthetase in maize endosperm. Molecular and General Genetics 184, 372-376
- Chourey PS (2006) Nomenclature of sucrose synthase genes and the gene products. *Maize Genetics Cooperative Newsletter* **80**, 11
- Chourey PS, Nelson OE (1976) The enzymatic deficiency conditioned by the *shrunken-1* mutations in maize. *Biochemical Genetics* **14**, 1041-1055
- Chourey PS, Taliercio EW, Carlson SJ, Ruan Y-L (1998) Genetic evidence that the two isozymes of sucrose synthase present in developing maize endosperm are critical, one for cell wall integrity and the other for starch biosynthesis. *Molecular and General Genetics* 259, 88-96

- **Colmer TD** (2003) Aerenchyma and an inducible barrier to radial oxygen loss facilitate root aeration in upland, paddy and deep-water rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Annals of Botany* **91**, 301-309
- Colmer TD, Gibbered MR, Wiengweera A, Tinh TK (1998) The barrier to radial oxygen loss from roots of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is induced by growth in stagnant solution. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **49**, 1431-1436
- Crawford NM (2006) Mechanisms for nitric oxide synthesis in plants. *Journal* of Experimental Botany 57, 471-478
- Crawford NM, Galli M, Tischner R, Heimer YM, Okamoto M, Mack A (2006) Response to Zemojtel *et al*: Plant nitric oxide synthase: back to square one. *Trends in Plant Science* 11, 526-527
- Crawford RMM (1978) Metabolic adaptation to anoxia. In: Hook DD, Crawford RMM (Eds) *Plant Life in Anaerobic Environments*, Ann Arbor Science, Michigan, pp 119-136
- **Crawford RMM** (1987) *Plant Life in Aquatic and Amphibious Habitats*, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, 452 pp
- Crawford RMM, Brändle R (1996) Oxygen deprivation stress in a changing environment. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 47, 145-159
- Cross JV, Templeton DJ (2006) Regulation of signal transduction through protein cysteine oxidation. Antioxidants and Redox Signaling 8, 1819-1827
- Darvent MJ, Armstrong W, Armstrong J, Bekett PM (2003) Exploring the radial and longitudinal aeration of primary maize roots by means of Clarktype oxygen microelectrodes. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 50, 808-820 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* English Translation 722-732)
- **Davies DD** (1980) Anaerobic metabolism and the production of organic acids. In: Davies DD (Ed) *The Biochemistry of Plants*, Academic Press, New York, pp 581-611
- Davies DD, Grego S, Kenworth P (1974) The control of the production of lactate and ethanol by higher plants. *Planta* 118, 297-310
- Desikan R, Mackerness S, Hancock JT, Neill SJ (2001) Regulation of the Arabidopsis transcriptome by oxidative stress. Plant Physiology 127, 159-172
- de Tullio MC, Paciolla C, Dalla Vecchia F, Rascio N, D'Emerico S, de Gara L, Liso R, Arrigoni O (1999) Changes in onion root development induced by the inhibition of peptidyl-prolyl hydroxylase and influence of the ascorbate system on cell division elongation. *Planta* 209, 424-434
- Dixon MH, Hill SA, Jackson MB, Ratcliffe RG, Sweetlove LJ (2006) Physiological and metabolic adaptations of *Potamogeton pectinatus* tubers support rapid elongation of stem tissue in the absence of oxygen. *Plant Cell Phy*siology 47, 128-140
- Dordas C J, Rivoal J, Hill RD (2003) Plant haemoglobins, nitric oxide and hypoxic stress. Annals of Botany 91, 173-178
- Douce R, Bourguignon J, Neuburger M, Rebeille F (2001) The glycine decarboxylase system: a fascinating complex. *Trends in Plant Science* 6, 167-176
- Drew MC (1992) Soil aeration and plant root metabolism. Soil Science 154, 259-268
- Drew MC (1997) Oxygen deficiency and root metabolism: Injury and acclimation under hypoxia and anoxia. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Molecular Biology 48, 223-250
- Drew MC, Cobb BG, Johnson JR, Andrews D, Morgan PW, Jordan W, He CJ (1994) Metabolic acclimation of root tips to oxygen deficiency. Annals of Botany 74, 281-286
- Drew MC, He C-J, Morgan PW (2000) Programmed cell death and aerenchyma formation in roots. *Trends in Plant Science* 5, 123-127
- Drew MC, Jackson MB, Giffard S (1979) Ethylene-promoted adventitious rooting and development of cortical air spaces (aerenchyma) in roots may be adaptive responses to flooding in Zea mays L. Planta 147, 83-88
- **Drew MC, Saglio PH, Pradet A** (1985) Higher adenylate energy charge and ATP/ADP ratios in aerenchymatous roots of *Zea mays* in anaerobic media as consequence of improved Internal oxygen transport. *Planta* **165**, 51-58
- Drury GE, Gallois P (2006) Programmed cell death in plants and flowers. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1st Edn, Vol I), Global Science Books, Isleworth, UK, pp 141-156
- Duff SMG, Wittenberg JB, Hill RD (1997) Expression, purification and properties recombinant barley (*Hordeum* sp.) hemoglobin: optical spectra and reactions with gaseous ligands. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272, 16746-16752
- Ellis MH, Dennis ES, Peacock W (1999) Arabidopsis roots and shoots have different mechanisms for hypoxic tolerance. Plant Physiology 119, 891-902
- Elstner EF (1987) Metabolism of activated oxygen species. In: Davies DD (Ed) Biochemistry of Plants, Academic Press, London, pp 253-315
- Evans DE (2004) Aerenchyma formation. New Phytologist 161, 35-49
- Fan TWM, Higashi RM, Frenkiel T, Lane AN (1997) Anaerobic nitrate and ammonium metabolism in flood-tolerant rice coleoptiles. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 48, 1655-1666
- **Fan TWM, Higashi RM, Lane AN** (1988) An *in vivo* ¹H and ³¹P NMR investigation of the effects of nitrate on hypoxic metabolism in maize roots. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **266**, 592-606
- Fan TWM, Lane AN, Higashi RM (2003) In vivo and in vitro analysis of anaerobic rice coleoptiles revealed unexpected pathways. Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow) 50, 879-885 (Russian Journal of Plant Physiology English Trans-

lation 787-793)

Felle H (2005) pH regulation in anoxic plants. Annals of Botany 96, 519-532

Felle H (2006) Apoplastic pH during low-oxygen stress in barley. Annals of Botany 98, 1085-1093

- Folzer H, Dat J, Capelli N, Rieffel D, Badot PM (2006) Response of sessile oak seedlings (*Quercus petraea*) to flooding: an integrated study. *Tree Physiology* 26, 759-766
- Ford YY, Ratcliffe RG, Robins RJ (1996) Phytohormone induced GABA production in transformed root cultures of *Datura stramonium*: An *in vivo* ¹⁵N-NMR study. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 47, 811-818
- Fox GG, Hene A, McCallan NR, Ratcliffe RG (1995b) The role of cytoplasmic pH and ATP in the anoxic response: non-invasive experiments with in *vivo* spectroscopy. *Plant Physiology* **108**, 843
- Fox TC, Kennedy RA, Rumpho ME (1994) Energetics of plant growth under anoxia: metabolic adaptation of Oryza sativa and Echinochloa phyllopogon/. Annals of Botany 74, 445-455
- Fox GG, McCallan NR, Ratcliffe RG (1995a) Manipulating cytoplasmic pH under anoxia: A critical test of the role of pH in the switch from aerobic to anaerobic metabolism. *Planta* 195, 324-330
- Foyer CH, Halliwell B (1976) The presence of glutathione and glutathione reductase in chloroplasts: a proposed role in ascorbic acid metabolism. *Planta* 133, 21-25
- Foyer CH, Lelandais MA (1996) A comparison of the relative rates of transport of ascorbate and glucose across the thylakoid, chloroplast and plasmalemma membranes of pea leaves mesophyll cells. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 148, 391-398
- Fryer MJ (1992) The antioxidant effects of thylakoid vitamin E (α-tocopherol). Plant Cell and Environment 15, 381-392
- Gambrell RP, de Laune RD, Patrick WH Jr. (1991) Redox processes in soils following oxygen depletion. In: Jackson MB, Davies DD, Lambers H (Eds) *Plant Life under Oxygen Deprivation. Ecology, Physiology and Biochemistry*, SPB Academic, The Hague, pp 101-117
- **Garthwaite AJ, Armstrong W, Colmer TD** (2004) Physiology of the barrier to radial O₂ in loss adventitious roots of *Hordeum marinum* assessed using modelling and experiments to manipulate O₂ in the aerenchyma. 8th Conference of the International Society of Plant Anaerobiosis, 20-24 September 2004, Perth, Western Australia, p 27 (Abstract)
- Gechev TS, Breusegem F, van Stone JM, Denev I, Laloi C (2006) Reactive oxygen species as signals that modulate plant stress responses and programmed cell death. *BioEssays* 28, 1091-1101
- Geffers R, Sell S, Cerff R, Hehl R (2001) The TATA box and a *Myb* binding site are essential for anaerobic expression of a maize *GapC4* minimal promoter in tobacco. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **1521**, 120-125
- Generozova IP, Krasavina MS, Polyakova LI, Burmistrova NA, Lyubomilova MV, Vartapetian BB (1998) On some molecular aspects of adaptation of *Oryza sativa* seedlings to anoxia. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* **45**, 268-275 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* English Translation 227-233)
- Generozova IP, Snkhchyan AG, Vartapetian BB (1984) Dynamics of changes in mitochondria ultrastructure in maize seedlings under anoxia. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 31, 683-691 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* English Translation 535-543)
- Generozova IP, Vartapetian BB (2005) On the physiological role of anaerobically synthesized lipids in Oryza sativa seedlings. Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow) 52, 540-548 (Russian Journal of Plant Physiology English Translation, pp 481-488)
- Gibbs J, de Bruxelle D, Armstrong W, Greenway H (1995) Evidence for anoxic zones in 2-3 mm tips of aerenchymatous maize roots under low O₂ supply. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology 22, 723-730
- Gladish DK, Xu J, Niki T (2006) Apoptosis-like programmed cell death occurs in procambium and ground meristem of pea (*Pisum sativum*) root tips exposed to sudden flooding. *Annals of Botany* 97, 895-902
- Godber BLJ, Doel JJ, Sapkota GP, Blake DR, Stevens CR, Eisenthal R, Harrison R (2000) Reduction of nitrite to nitric oxide catalyzed by xanthine oxidoreductase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**, 7757-7763
- Good AG, Crosby WL (1989) Anaerobic induction of alanine aminotransferase in barley root tissue. *Plant Physiology* 90, 1305-1309
- Gout E, Boisson A-M, Aubert S, Douce R, Bligny R (2001) Origin of cytoplasmic pH change during anaerobic stress in higher plant cells. Carbon-13 and phosphorous-31 nuclear magnetic resonance studies. *Plant Physiology* 125, 912-925
- Grace S, Logan BA (2000) Energy dissipation and radical scavenging by the plant phenylpropanoid pathway. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B* 355, 1499-1510
- Grant JJ, Yun BW, Loake GJ (2000) Oxidative burst and cognate redox signalling reported by luciferase imaging: identification of a signal network that functions independently of ethylene, SA and Me-JA but is dependent on MAPKK activity. *The Plant Journal* 24, 569-582
- Grineva GM, Bragina TV (1993) Formation of adaptations to flooding in corn. Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow) 40, 662-667 (Russian Journal of Plant Physiology English Translation, 583-587)
- Grineva GM, Bragina TV, Platonova AV (2000) Ethylene-induced activation of hydrolytic enzymes in maize adventitious roots during progressive flooding. *Doklady Akademii Nauk* 374, 393-396 (in Russian)

- Grün S, Lindermayer C, Sell S, Durner J (2006) Nitric oxide and gene regulation in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57, 507-516
- Gunawardena HLAN, Pearce DME, Jackson MB, Hawes CR, Evans DE (2001a) Characterization of programmed cell death during aerenchyma formation induced by ethylene or hypoxia in roots of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Planta* 212, 205-214
- Gunawardena HLAN, Pearce DME, Jackson MB, Hawes CR, Evans DE (2001b) Rapid changes in cell wall pectic polysaccharides are closely associated with early stages of aerenchyma formation, a spatially localized form of programmed cell death in roots of maize (*Zea mays L.*) promoted by ethylene. *Plant Cell and Environment* 24, 1369-1375
- **Guo F-Q** (2006) Response to Zemojtel *et al*: Plant nitric oxide synthase: AtNOS1 is just the beginning. *Trends in Plant Science* **11**, 527-528
- Guo F-Q, Okamoto M, Crawford NM (2003) Identification of a plant nitric oxide synthase gene involved in hormonal signaling. *Science* 302, 100-103
- Halliwell B (2006) Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life. *Plant Physiology* 141, 312-322
- Harada T, Satoh Sh, Yoshioka T, Ishizawa K (2005) Expression of sucrose synthase genes involved in elongation of pondweed (*Potamogeton distinctus*) turions under anoxia. *Annals of Botany* 96, 683-692
- He C-J, Morgan PW, Drew MC (1992) Enhanced sensitivity to ethylene in nitrogen- or phosphate-starved roots of Zea mays L. during aerenchyma formation. Plant Physiology 98, 137-142
- He C-J, Drew MC, Morgan PW (1994) Induction of enzymes associated with lysogenous aerenchyma formation in roots of *Zea mays L.* during hypoxia or nitrogen starvation. *Plant Physiology* **105**, 861-865
- He C-J, Finlayson SA, Drew MC, Jordan WR, Morgan PW (1996) Ethylene biosynthesis during aerenchyma formation in roots of maize subjected to mechanical impedance and hypoxia. *Plant Physiology* 112, 1679-1685
- Henzi T, Brändle R (1993) Long-term survival of rhizomatous species under oxygen deprivation. In: Jackson MB, Black CR (Eds) Interacting Stresses on Plants in a Changing Climate, Springer-Verlag, NATO ASI Series, Berlin, 16, pp 305-314
- Henzler T, Steudle E (2000) Transport and metabolic degradation of hydrogen peroxide in Chara corallina: model calculations and measurements with the pressure probe suggest transport of H_2O_2 across water channels. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **51**, 2053-2066
- Hill RD (2004) A further look at involvement of haemoglobin and no in the hypoxic stress response. 8th Conference of the International Society of Plant Anaerobiosis, 20-24 September 2004, Perth, Western Australia, p 20 (Abstract)
- Hoeren FU, Dolferus R, Wu Y, Peacock WJ, Dennis ES1998) Evidence for a role for AtMYB2 in the induction of the *Arabidopsis* alcohol dehydrogenase (*ADH1*) by low oxygen. *Genetics* 149, 479-490
- Hoffman NE, Bent AF, Hanson AD (1986) Induction of lactate dehydrogenase isozymes by oxygen deficit in barley root issue. *Plant Physiology* 82, 658-663
- Hole DJ, Cobb BG, Hole P, Drew MC (1992) Enhancement of anaerobic respiration in root tips of *Zea mays* following low oxygen (hypoxic) acclimation. *Plant Physiology* 99, 213-218
- Hook DD, Crawford RMM (1978) Plant Life in Anaerobic Environments, Ann Arbor Science, Michigan, 564 pp
- Horemans N, Foyer CH, Potters G, Asard H (2000) Ascorbate function and associated transport systems in plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 38, 531-540
- Huang SB, Ishizawa K, Greenway H, Colmer TD (2005) Manipulation ethanol production in anoxic coleoptiles by exogenous glucose determines rates of ion fluxes and provides estimates of energy requirements for cell maintenance during anoxia. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, 2453-2463
- Huang SB, von Rad U, Durner J (2002) Nitric oxide induces transcriptional activation of the nitric oxide-tolerant alternative oxidase in Arabidopsis suspension cells. *Planta* 215, 914-923
- Igamberdiev AU, Baron K, Manac H-L, Stoimenova M, Hill RD (2005) The haemoglobin: nitric oxide cycle: involvement in flooding stress and effects on hormone signaling. *Annals of Botany* 96, 557-564
- Ismond KP, Dolferus R, Pauw MD, Dennis ES, Good AG (2003) Enhanced low oxygen survival in Arabidopsis through increased metabolic flux in the fermentative pathway. *Plant Physiology* 132, 1292-1302
- Ivanov BF, Andreev VYu (1992) On the role of "nitrate respiration" in higher plants resistance to anoxia. In: Lambers H, van der Plas LHW (Eds) Molecular, Biochemical and Physiological Aspects of Plant Respiration, SPB Academic, The Hague, pp 559-566
- Jackson MB (1985) Ethylene and responses of plants to soil waterlogging and submergence. *Plant Physiology* 36, 145-174
- Jackson MB, Armstrong W (1999) Formation of aerenchyma and the processes of plant ventilation in relation to soil flooding and submergence. *Plant Biology* **1**, 274-287
- Jackson MB, Black CR (1993) Interacting stresses on plants in a changing climate. In: Jackson MB, Black CR (Eds) Interacting Stresses on Plants in a Changing Climate, Springer-Verlag, NATO ASI Series, Berlin, 16, pp 771
- Jackson MB, Davies DD, Lambers H (Eds) (1991) Plant Life under Oxygen Deprivation, SPB Academic, The Hague, 326 pp
- Jackson MB, Drew MC (1984) Effects of flooding on growth and metabolism

of herbaceous plants. In: Kozlowski TT (Ed) Flooding and Plant Growth, Academic Press, New York, pp 47-163

- Jackson MB, Ram PC (2003) Physiological and molecular basis of susceptibility and tolerance of rice plants to complete submergence. *Annals of Botany* 91, 227-241
- Janiszowska W, Pennock JF (1976) The biochemistry of vitamin E in plants. Vitamins and Hormones 34, 77-105
- Jimenez A, Hernandez JA, Pastori G, del Río LA, Sevilla F (1998) Role of the ascorbate-glutathione cycle of mitochondria and peroxisomes in the senescence of pea leaves. *Plant Physiology* **118**, 1327-1335
- Johnson J, Cobb BG, Drew MC (1989) Hypoxic induction of anoxia tolerance in root tips of Zea mays. Plant Physiology 91, 837-841
- Justin SHFW, Armstrong W (1991) Evidence for the involvement of ethylene in aerenchyma formation in adventitious roots of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). New Phytologist 118, 49-62
- Kagan VE (1989) Tocopherol stabilizes membrane against phospholipase A, free fatty acids, and lysophospholipids. In: Diplock AT, Machlin J, Packer L, Pryor WA (Eds) *Vitamin E: Biochemistry and Health Implications*, Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, NY 570, 121-135
- Kagan VE, Fabisiak JP, Quinn PJ (2000) Coenzyme Q and vitamin E need each other as antioxidants. *Protoplasma* 214, 11-18
- Kalashnikov JuE, Balakhnina TI, Zakrzhevsky DA (1994) Effect of soil hypoxia on activation of oxygen and the system of protection from oxidative destruction in roots and leaves of *Hordeum vulgare*. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 41, 583-588
- Kamal-Eldin A, Appelqvist L-Å (1996) The chemistry and antioxidant properties of tocopherols and tocotrienols. *Lipids* **31**, 671-701
- Karapetian RN, Evstafieva AG, Abaeva IS, Chichkova NV, Filonov GS, Rubtsov YP, Sukhacheva EA, Melnikov SV, Schneider U, Wanker EE, Vartapetian AB (2005) Nuclear oncoprotein prothymosin α is a partner of Keap1: Implications for expression of oxidative stress-protecting genes. *Molecular and Cell Biology* **25**, 1089-1099
- Kawase M (1979) Role of cellulase in aerenchyma development in sunflower. American Journal of Botany 66, 183-190
- Kawase M (1981) Effect of ethylene on aerenchyma development. American Journal of Botany 68, 651-658
- Kende H, van der Knaap E, Cho H-T (1998) Deepwater rice: a model plant to study stem elongation. *Plant Physiology* 118, 1105-1110
- Kennedy RA, Barret SC, van der Zee D, Rumpho ME (1980) Germination and seedling growth under anaerobic conditions in *Echinochloa crus-galli* (Barnyard grass). *Plant Cell and Environment* **3**, 243-248
- Kennedy RA, Fox TC, Everard JD, Rumpho ME (1991) Biochemical adaptations to anoxia: potential role of mitochondrial metabolism to food tolerance in *Echinochloa phyllopogon* (Barnyard Grass). In: Jackson MB, Davies DD, Lambers H (Eds) *Plant Life under Oxygen Deprivation. Ecology, Phy*siology and Biochemistry, SPB Academic, The Hague, pp 217-227
- Kennedy RA, Rumpho ME, Fox ThC (1992) Anaerobic metabolism in plants. Plant Physiology 100, 1-6
- Kharinarain RP, Dolgikh Yu I, Guzhov YuL (1996) Selection of media for mass regeneration of sugarcane plants from callus culture. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 43, 111-115 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* English Translation, pp 97-100)
- Kirk GJD, Kronzucker HJ (2005) The potential for nitrification and nitrate uptake in the rhizosphere of wetland plants: a modelling study. *Annals of Botany* 96, 639-646
- Klessig DF, Durner J, Noad R, Navarre DA, Wendehenne D, Kumar D, Zhou JM, Shah J, Zhang S, Kachroo P, Trifa Y, Pontier D, Lam E, Silva H (2000) Nitric oxide and salicylic acid signaling in plant defense. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 97, 8849-8855
- Kovtun Y, Chiu W, Tena G, Sheen J (2000) Functional analysis of oxidative stress-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in plants. *Proceed*ings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97, 2940-2945
- Kozlovsky TT (1984) Flooding and Plant Growth, Academic Press, London, 356 pp
- Kulichikhin K, Aitio O, Chirkova TV, Fagerstedt KV (2007) Effect of oxygen concentration on intracellular pH, glucose-6-phosphate and NTP content in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) and wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) root tips: *in vivo* ³¹P-NMR study. *Physiologia Plantarum* **129**, 507-518
- Lamattina L, Garcia-Mata C, Graziano M, Pagnussat G (2003) Nitric oxide: the versatility of an extensive signal molecule. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 54, 109-136
- Larson RA (1988) The antioxidants of higher plants. *Phytochemistry* 27, 969-978
- Lee SH, Ahsan N, Lee KW, Lee DG, Kwark SS, Kwon SY, Kim TH, Lee BH (2007a) Simultaneous overexpression of both CuZn superoxide dismutase and ascorbate peroxidase in transgenic tall fescue plants confers increased tolerance to a wide range of abiotic stresses. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **164**, 1626-1638
- Lee TG, Jang CS, Kim JY, Park JH, Kim DY, Seo YW (2007b) A Myb transcription factor (*TaMyb1*) from wheat roots is expressed during hypoxia: roles in response to the oxygen concentration in root environment and abiotic stresses. *Physiologia Plantarum* **129**, 375-385

Lee TM, Lin YN (1995) Changes in soluble and cell wall-bound peroxidase

activities with growth in anoxia-treated rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) coleoptiles and roots. *Plant Science* **106**, 1-7

- Leshem Y (2000) *Nitric Oxide in Plants*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, London, 180 pp
- Li X, Mo X, Shou P (2006) Cytokinin-mediated cell cycling arrest of pericycle founder cells in lateral root initiation of Arabidopsis. *Plant and Cell Physi*ology 47, 1112-1123
- Libourel IGL, van Bodegom PM, Fricker MD, Ratcliffe RG (2006) Nitrate reduces cytoplasmic acidosis under anoxia. *Plant Physiology* 142, 1710-1717
- Liso R, Innocenti AM, Bitonti MB, Arrigoni O (1988) Ascorbic acid-induced progression of quiescent center cells from G1 to S phase. *New Phytologist* 110, 469-471
- Loreti E, Yamaguchi J, Alpi A, Perata P (2003) Sugar modulation of α-amylase genes under anoxia. *Annals of Botany* **91**, 143-148
- Mattana M, Bertani A, Aurisano N, Reggiani R (1993) Preliminary evidence of nitrate assimilation during the anaerobic germination of rice. In: Jackson MB, Black CR (Eds) Interacting Stresses on Plants in a Changing Climate, Springer-Verlag, NATO ASI Series, Berlin 16, pp 365-375
- Menegus F, Cattaruzza L, Mattana M, Beffagna N, Ragg E (1991) Response to anoxia in rice and wheat seedlings. Changes in pH of intracellular compartments, glucose-6-phosphate level and metabolic rate. *Plant Physiology* 95, 760-767
- Mohanty B, Ong B-L (2003) Contrasting effects of submergence in light and dark on pyruvate decarboxylase activity in roots of rice lines differing in submergence tolerance. *Annals of Botany* 91, 291-300
- Mommer L, Visser E (2005) Underwater photosynthesis in flooded terrestrial plants: a matter of leaf plasticity. *Annals of Botany* **96**, 581-589
- Monk LS, Fagersted KV, Crawford RMM (1987) Superoxide dismutase as an anaerobic polypeptide – a key factor in recovery from oxygen deprivation in *Iris pseudocorus? Plant Physiology* 85, 1016-1020
- Monk LS, Fagerstedt KV, Crawford RMM (1989) Oxygen toxicity and superoxide dismutase as an antioxidant in physiological stress. *Physiologia Plantarum* 76, 456-459
- Mou Z, Fan W, Dong X (2003) Inducers of plant systemic acquired resistance regulate NPR1 Function through redox changes. *Cell* **113**, 935-944
- Müller E, Albers BP, Janiesch P (1994) Influence of NO⁻³ and NH⁺₄ nutrition on fermentation, nitrate reductase activity and adenylate energy charge of roots of *Carex pseudocyperus* L. and *Carex sylvatica* huds. exposed to anaerobic nutrient solutions. *Plant and Soil* 166, 221-230
- Mustroph A, Poers Y, Grimm B, Boamfa E, Laarhoven LJ, Harren FJM, Albrecht G (2004) The influence of light on plant survival and ethanolic fermentation during anaerobiosis in rice and wheat seedlings. 8th Conference of the International Society of Plant Anaerobiosis, 20-24 September 2004, Perth, Western Australia, p 23 (Abstract)
- Neill SJR, Desikan R, Hancock JT (2003) Nitric oxide signalling in plants. New Phytologist 159, 11-35
- Neue HU, Becker-Heidmann P, Scharpenseel HW (1990) Organic matter dynamics, soil properties and cultural practices in rice lands and their relationship to methane production. In: Bouwman AF (Ed) *Soils and the Greenhouse Effect*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp 457-466
- Noctor G, Foyer CH (1998) Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping active oxygen under control. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Molecular Biology 49, 249-279
- Nuritdinov N, Vartapetian BB (1980) Movement ¹⁴C-sucrose in cotton plants during root anaerobiosis. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 27, 814-820 (Soviet *Plant Physiology* English Translation, pp 616-621)
- Nuritdinov N, Vartapetian BB (1981) A quantitative assay of O₂ transport in cotton plants at different temperatures. *Physiologie Vegetal* **19**, 211-217
- Oberson I, Pavelic D, Brändle R, Rawyler A (1999) Nitrate increases membrane stability of potato cells under anoxia. *Plant Physiology* 155, 792-794
- Overmyer K, Brosche M, Kangasjärvi J (2003) Reactive oxygen species and hormonal control of cell death. *Trends in Plant Science* 8, 335-342
- Packer L, Weber SU, Rimbach G (2001) Molecular aspects of α-tocotrienol antioxidant action and cell signalling. *Journal of Nutrition* 131, 369S-373S
- Pavelic D, Arpagaus S, Rawyler A, Braendle R (2000) Impact of post-anoxia stress on membrane lipids of anoxia pretreated potato cells. A re-appraisal. *Plant Physiology* 124, 1285-1292
- Pedersen O, Borum J, Sand-Jensen K, Binzer T, Andersen T, Ikejima K (2004) How do submerged plants support night time respiration of belowground tissues. 8th Conference of the International Society of Plant Anaerobiosis, date, Perth, West Australia, p 22 (Abstract)
- Pitzschke A, Forzani C, Hirt H (2006) Reactive oxygen species signaling in plants. Antioxidants and Redox Signaling 8, 1757-1764
- Polyakova LI, Vartapetian BB (2003) Exogenous nitrate as a terminal acceptor of electrons in rice (*Oryza sativa*) coleoptiles and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) roots under strict anoxia. *Fiziology Rastenii (Moscow)* 50, 901-906 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* English Translation, pp 808-812)
- Ponnamperuma FN (1984) Effect of flooding on soils. In: Kozlowski TT (Ed) Flooding and Plant Growth, Academic Press, Orlando, FL, pp 9-45
- Quimio CA, Torrizo LB, Setter TL, Ellis M, Grover A, Abrigo EM, Oliva NP, Ella ES, Carpena AL, Ito O, Peacock WJ, Dennis E, Datta SK (2000) Enhancement of submergence tolerance in transgenic rice overproducing pyruvate decarboxylase. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 156, 516-521

- Rahman M, Grover A, Peacock W J, Dennis ES, Ellis M (2001) Effect of manipulation of pyruvate decarboxylase and alcohol dehydrogenase levels on the submergence tolerance of rice. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology* 28, 1231-1241
- Raskin I, Kende H (1983) How does deep water rice solve its aeration problem? *Plant Physiology* 72, 447-454
- Raskin I, Kende H (1985) Mechanism of aeration in rice. Science 228, 327-329
- Ratcliffe RG (1997) In vivo NMR studies of the metabolic responses of plant tissues to anoxia. Annals of Botany 79, 39-48
- Reggiani R, Brambilla I, Bertani A (1985a) Effect of exogenous nitrate on anaerobic metabolism in excised rice roots. I nitrate reduction and pyridine nucleotide pools. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 36, 1193-1199
- Reggiani R, Brambilla I, Bertani A (1985b) Effect of exogenous nitrate on anaerobic metabolism in excised rice roots. II Fermentative activity and adenylate energy charge. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 36, 1698-1704
- Ricard B, Van Toai T, Chourey P, Saglio P (1998) Evidence for the critical role of sucrose synthase for anoxic tolerance of maize roots using a double mutant. *Plant Physiology* 116, 1323-1331
- Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G (1997) Antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds. Trends in Plant Sciences 2, 152-159
- Rivoal J, Hanson AD (1994) Metabolic control of anaerobic glycolysis overexpression of lactate dehydrogenase in transgenic tomato roots support the Davies–Roberts hypothesis and points to a critical role for lactate secretion. *Plant Physiology* **106**, 1179-1185
- Roberts JKM, Andrade FH, Anderson IC (1985) Further evidence that cytoplasmic acidosis is a determinant of flooding intolerance in plants. *Plant Phy*siology 77, 492-494
- Roberts JKM, Callis J, Jardetzky O, Walbot V, Freeling M (1984a) Cytoplasmic acidosis as a determinant of flooding intolerance in plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **81**, 6029-6033
- Roberts JKM, Callis J, Jardetzky O, Walbot V, Freeling M (1984b) Mechanism of cytoplasmic pH regulation in hypoxic maize root tips and its role in survival under hypoxia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA **81**, 3379-3383
- Roberts JKM, Hooks MA, Miaullis AP, Edwards S, Webster C (1992) Contribution of malate and amino acid metabolism to cytoplasmic pH regulation in hypoxic maize root tips studied using nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Plant Physiology* 98, 480-487
- **Roberts JKM, Weemmer D, Ray PM, Jardetzky O** (1982) Regulation of cytoplasmic and vacuolar pH in maize root tips under different experimental conditions. *Plant Physiology* **69**, 1344-1347
- Rockel P, Strube F, Rockel A, Wildt J, Kaiser WM (2002) Regulation of nitric oxide (NO) production by plant nitrate reductase *in vivo and in vitro*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 103-110
- Ruan Y-L, Chourey PS, Delmer DP, Perez-Grau L (1997) The differential expression of sucrose synthase in relation to diverse patterns of carbon partitioning in developing cotton seed. *Plant Physiology* 115, 375-385
- Saab IN, Sachs MM (1995) Complete cDNA and genomic sequence encoding a flooding-responsive gene from maize (Zea mays L.) homologous to xyloglucan endotransglycosylase. Plant Physiology 108, 439-440
- Saab IN, Sachs MM (1996) A flooding-induced xyloglucan endo-transglycosylase homolog in maize is responsive to ethylene and associated with aerenchyma. *Plant Physiology* 112, 385-391
- Sachs MM, Vartapetian BB (2007) Plant anaerobic stress I. Metabolic adaptation to oxygen deficiency. *Plant Stress* 1, 123-135
- Saglio PH, Drew MC, Pradet A (1988) Metabolic acclimation to anoxia induced by low (2–4 kPa) partial pressure oxygen pretreatment (hypoxia) in root tips of Zea mays. Plant Physiology 86, 61-66
- Saglio PH, Raymond P, Pradet A (1980) Metabolic activity and energy charge of excised maize root tips under anoxia. *Plant Physiology* 66, 1053-1057
- Saint-Ges V, Roby C, Bligny R, Pradet A, Douce R (1991) Kinetic studies of the variation of cytoplasmic pH, nucleotide triphosphates (³¹P-NMR) and lactate during normoxic and anoxic transitions in maize root tips. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 200, 477-482
- Sairam RK, Deshmukh PS, Saxena DC (1998) Role of antioxidant systems in wheat genotype tolerance to water stress. *Biologia Plantarum* 41, 387-394
- Sanchez-Fernandez R, Fricker M, Corben LB, White NS, Sheard N, Leaver CJ, van Montagu M, Inzé D, May MJ (1997) Cell proliferation and hair tip growth in the *Arabidopsis* root are under mechanistically different forms of redox control. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 94, 2745-2750
- Sato T, Harada T, Ischizawa K (2002) Stimulation of glycolysis in anaerobic elongation of pondweed (*Potamogeton distinctus*) turions. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 1847-1856
- Scebba F, Sebastiani L, Vitagliano C (1998) Changes in activity of antioxidative enzymes in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) seedlings under cold acclimation. *Physiologia Plantarum* 104, 747-752
- Schwartz D (1969) An example of gene fixation resulting from selective advantage in suboptimal conditions. *American Naturalist* **103**, 479-481
- Selye H (1950) The Physiology and Pathology of Exposure to Stress, Medical, Montreal, 122 pp

Serbinova EA, Packer L (1994) Antioxidant properties of α -tocopherol and α -

tocotrienol. Methods in Enzymology 234, 354-366

- Setter TL, Ellis M, Laureles EV, Ella ES, Senadhira D, Mishra SB, Sarkarung S, Datta S (1997) Physiology and genetics of submergence tolerance in rice. Annals of Botany 79 (Suppl.), 66-67
- Setter TL, Waters I, Saberi H, McDonald G, Biddulph B (2004) Screening for waterlogging tolerance of crop plants. 8th Conference of the International Society of Plant Anaerobiosis, date, Perth, West Australia, p 50 (Abstract)
- Smirnoff N (1996) The function and metabolism of ascorbic acid in plants. Annals of Botany 78, 661-669
- Smirnoff N (2000) Ascorbic acid: metabolism and functions of a multi-facetted molecule. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 3, 229-235
- Smirnoff N, Crawford RMM (1983) Variation in the structure and response to flooding of root aerenchyma in some wetland plants. *Annals of Botany* 51, 237-249
- Springer B, Werr W, Starlinger P, Bennett DC, Zokolica M, Freeling M (1986) The shrunken gene on chromosome 9 of Zea mays L. is expressed in various plant tissues and encodes an anaerobic protein. Molecular and General Genetic 205, 461-468
- Stepanova A Yu, Polyakova LI, Dolgikh I Yu, Vartapetian BB (2002) The response of sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum) cultured cells to anoxia and the selection of a tolerant cell line Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow) 49, 451-458 (Russian Journal of Plant Physiology English Translation, pp 406-412)
- Stoimenova M, Libourel IGL, Ratcliffe RG, Kaiser WM (2003) The role of nitrate reduction in the anoxic metabolism of roots- II. Anoxic metabolism of tobacco roots with or without nitrate reductase activity. *Plant and Soil* 253, 155-167
- Subbaiah CC, Bush DC, Sachs MM (1994) Elevation of cytosolic calcium precedes anoxic Gene expression in maize suspension-cultured cells. *Plant Cell* 6, 1747-1762
- Subbaiah CC, Bush DS, Sachs MM (1998) Mitochondrial contribution to the anoxic Ca²⁺ signal in maize suspension-cultured cells. *Plant Physiology* 118, 759-771
- Subbaiah CC, Kollipara K, Sachs MM (1999) Potential involvement of maize AIP in the anoxia-induced death of the root tip. In: Abstracts of 39th Annual Maize Genetic Conference, Lake Geneva, WI, p 98
- Subbaiah CC, Kollipara K, Sachs MM (2000) A Ca²⁺-dependent cysteine protease is associated with anoxia-induced root tip death in maize. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, 721-730
- Subbaiah CC, Palaniappan A, Duncan K, Rhoads DM, Huber SC, Sachs MM (2006) Mitochondrial localization and putative signaling function of sucrose synthase in maize. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 15625-15635
- Subbaiah CC, Sachs MM (2001) Altered patterns of sucrose synthase phosphorylation and localization precede callose induction and root tip death in anoxic maize seedlings. *Plant Physiology* 125, 585-594
- Subbaiah CC, Sachs MM (2003) Calcium-mediated responses of maize to oxygen deprivation. *Fiziologia Rastenii (Moscow)* 50, 841-851 (*Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* English Translation, pp 752-761)
- Sugimoto M, Furui S, Suzuki Y (1997) Molecular cloning and characterisation of a cDNA encoding putative phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase from spinach. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry* 61, 1379-1381
- Summers JE, Ratcliffe RG, Jackson MB (2000) Anoxia tolerance in the aquatic monocot *Potamogeton pectinatus*: absence of oxygenstimulates elongation in association with unusual Pasteur Effect. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, 1413-1422
- Tadege M, Brändle R, Kuhlemeier C (1998) Anoxia tolerance in tobacco roots: effect of overexpression of pyruvate decarboxylase. *The Plant Journal* 14, 327-335
- Takahama U, Oniki T (1997) A peroxide/phenolics/ascorbate system can scavenge hydrogen peroxide in plant cells. *Physiologia Plantarum* 101, 845-852
- Thomas CE, McLean LR, Parker RA, Ohlweiler DF (1992) Ascorbate and phenolic antioxidant interactions in prevention of liposomal oxidation. *Lipids* 27, 543-550
- Thomson CJ, Armstrong W, Waters I, Greenway H (1990) Aerenchyma formation and associated oxygen movement in seminal and nodal roots of wheat. *Plant Cell and Environment* 13, 395-403
- Thomson CJ, Greenway H (1991) Metabolic evidence for stellar anoxia in maize roots exposed to low O₂ concentration. *Plant Physiology* 96, 1294-1301
- Tun NN, Holk A, Scherer GF (2001) Rapid increase of NO release in plant cell cultures induced by cytokinin. FEBS Letters 509, 174-176
- Ushimaru T, Kanematsu S, Shibasaka M, Tsuji H (1999) Effect of hypoxia on the antioxidative enzymes in aerobically grown rice (*Oryza sativa*) seedlings. *Physiologia Plantarum* 107, 181-187
- Van Breusegem, Dat FJF (2006) Reactive oxygen species in plant death. Plant Physiology 141, 384-390
- Vandenabeele SK, van der Kelen J, Dat I, Gadjev T, Boonefaes S, Morsa P, Rottiers L, Slooten L, van Montagu M, Zabeau M, Inzé D, van Breusegem F (2003) A comprehensive analysis of hydrogen peroxide-induced gene expression in tobacco. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 100, 16113-16118

Van Toai TT, Bolles CS (1991) Postanoxic injury in soybean (Glycine max)

seedlings. Plant Physiology 97, 58872-592

- Vartapetian BB (1973) Aeration of roots in relation to molecular oxygen transport in plants. In: Slater RO (Ed) *Plant Response to Climatic Factors*, Proceedings Uppsala Symposium 1970, UNESCO, Paris pp 259-265
- Vartapetian BB (1978) Introduction: life without oxygen. In: Hook DD, Crawford RMM (Eds) *Plant Life in Anaerobic Environments*, Ann Arbor Science, Michigan, pp 1-12
- Vartapetian BB (1993a) Flood tolerant and flood sensitive plants under primary and secondary anoxia. In: Jackson MB, Black CR (Eds) Interacting Stresses on Plants in a Changing Climate, NATO ASI Series I, 16 Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp 231-242
- Vartapetian BB (1993b) Plant physiological responses to anoxia. In: Buxton DR, Shiblis RA, Forsherg BL, Blad KH, Asey KH, Paulsen GM, Wilson RF (Eds) International Crop Science Congress I, Crop Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin, USA, pp 721-726
- Vartapetian BB, Agapova LP, Averianov AA, Veselovsky VA (1974) New approach to study of oxygen transport in plants using chemiluminescent method. *Nature* (London) 24, № 5454, 269
- Vartapetian BB, Andreeva IN (1986) Mitochondrial ultrastructure of three hydrophyte species at anoxia and in anoxic glucose-supplemented medium. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 37, 685-692
- Vartapetian BB, Andreeva IN, Generozova IP, Polyakova LI, Maslova IP, Dolgikh YI, Stepanova AYu (2003) Functional electron microscopy in studies of plant response and adaptation to anaerobic stress. *Annals of Botany* Special Issue 91, 155-172
- Vartapetian BB, Andreeva IN, Kozlova GI, Agapova LP (1977) Mitochondrial ultrastructure in roots of mesophyte and hydrophyte at anoxia and after glucose feeding. *Protoplasma* 91, 243-256
- Vartapetian BB, Andreeva IN, Maslova IP, Davtian NG (1970) The oxygen and ultrastructure of root cells. Agrochimica 15, 1-19
- Vartapetian BB, Andreeva IN, Nuritdinov N (1978a) Plant cell under oxygen stress. In: Hook DD, Crawford RMM (Eds) Plant Life in Anaerobic Environments, Ann Arbor Science, Michigan, pp 13-88
- Vartapetian BB, Bazier R, Costes C (1978b) Lipids in rice seedling grown under anaerobic and aerobic conditions. In: Hook DD, Crawford RMM (Eds) *Plant Life in Anaerobic Environments*, Ann Arbor Science, Michigan, pp 539-548
- Vartapetian BB, Crawford RMM (2007) The International Society for Plant Anaerobiosis: History, functions and activity. *Plant Stress* 1, 1-3
- Vartapetian BB, Jackson MB (1997) Plant adaptation to anaerobic stress. Annals of Botany Special Issue 79, 3-20
- Vartapetian BB, Mazliak P, Lance C (1978c) Lipid biosynthesis in rice coleoptiles grown in the presence or in the absence of oxygen. *Plant Science Letters* 13, 321-328
- Vartapetian BB, Polyakova LI (1999) Protective effect of exogenous nitrate on the mitochondrial ultrastructure of Oryza sativa coleoptiles under strict anoxia. Protoplasma 206, 163-167
- Vartapetian BB, Snkhchian HG, Generozova IP (1987) Mitochondrial fine structure in imbibing seeds and seedlings of Zea mays L. under anoxia. In: Crawford RMM (Ed) Plant Life in Aquatic and Amphibious Habitats, Blackwell Science, Oxford, pp 205-223
- Virolainen E, Blokhina O, Fagerstedt KV (2002) Ca²⁺-induced high amplitude swelling and cytochrome c release from wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) mitochondria under anoxic stress. Annals of Botany **90**, 509-516
- Voesenek LACJ, Benschop JJ, Bou J, Cox MCH, Groeneveld HW, Millenaar FF, Vreburg RAM, Peeters AJM (2003) Interactions between plant hormones regulate submergence-induced shoot elongation in the floodingtolerant Dicot Rumex palustris. Annals of Botany 91, 205-211
- **Voesenek LACJ, Peeters AJM** (2004) Submergence-induced shoot elongation: plant hormones and microarrays. 8th Conference of the International Society of Plant Anaerobiosis, 20-24 September, Perth, Western Australia, p 44 (Abstract)

- Vriezen WH, Zhou Z, Van der Straeten D (2003) Regulation of submergenceinduced enhanced shoot elongation in Oryza sativa L. Annals of Botany 91, 263-270
- Waters BI, Armstrong W, Thompson CJ, Setter TL, Adkins S, Gibbs J, Greenway H (1989) Diurnal changes in radial oxygen loss and ethanol metabolism in roots of submerged and non-submerged rice seedlings. *New Phytologist* 113, 439-451
- Waters I, Morrell S, Greenway H, Colmer TD (1991) Effects of anoxia on wheat seedlings: II. Influence of O₂ supply prior to anoxia on tolerance to anoxia, alcoholic fermentation and Sugar Levels. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 42, 1437-1447
- Watkin ELJ, Thomson CJ, Greenway H (1998) Root development and aerenchyma formation in two wheat cultivars and one triticale cultivar grown in stagnant agar and aerated solution. *Annals of Botany* 81, 349-354
- Webb T, Armstrong W (1983) The effects of anoxia carbohydrates on the growth and viability of rice, pea and pumpkin roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 34, 579-603
- Wendehenne D, Lamotte O, Pugin A (2003) Plant iNOS: conquest of the Holy Grail. *Trends in Plant Science* **8**, 465-468
- Wendehenne D, Pugin A, Klessig DF, Durner J (2001) Nitric oxide: comparative synthesis and signaling in animal and plant cells. *Trends in Plant Science* 6, 177-183
- Willekens H, Inzé D, van Montagu M, van Camp W (1995) Catalase in plants. Molecular Breeding 1, 207-228
- Wingate VPM, Lawton MA, Lamb CJ (1988) Glutathione causes a massive and selective induction of plant defense genes. *Plant Physiology* 87, 206-210
- Wink DA, Mitchell JB (1998) Chemical biology of nitric oxide: insights into regulatory, cytotoxic, and cytoprotective mechanisms of nitric oxide. Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine 25, 434-456
- Xia JH, Roberts JKM (1994) Improved cytoplasmic pH regulation, increased lactate efflux, and reduced cytoplasmic lactate level are biochemical traits expressed in root tips of whole maize seedlings acclimated to a low oxygen environment. *Plant Physiology* 105, 651-657
- Xia JH, Saglio PH (1992) Lactic acid efflux as a mechanism of hypoxic acclimation of maize root tips to anoxia. *Plant Physiology* **100**, 40-46
- Xia JH, Saglio PH, Roberts JKM (1995) Nucleotide levels do not criticallydetermine survival of maize root tips acclimated to a low oxygen environment. *Plant Physiology* 108, 589-595
- Yamasaki H, Sakihama Y (2000) Simultaneous production of nitric oxide and peroxynitrite by plant nitrate reductase: *in vitro* evidence for the NR-dependent formation of active nitrogen species. *FEBS Letters* 468, 89-92
- Yan B, Dai Q, Liu X, Huang S, Wang Z (1996) Flooding-induced membrane damage, lipid oxidation and activated oxygen generation in corn leaves. *Plant and Soil* 179, 261-268
- Ye Q, Steudle E (2006) Oxidative gating of water channels (aquaporins) in corn roots. *Plant Cell and Environment* 29, 459-470
- Yu Q, Rengel Z (1999a) Drought and salinity differentially influence activities of superoxide dismutase in narrow-leafed lupins. *Plant Science* 142, 1-11
- Yu Q, Rengel Z (1999b) Waterlogging influences plant growth and activities of superoxide dismutases in narrow-leafed lupin and transgenic tobacco plants. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 155, 431-438
- Zago E, Morsa S, Dat JF, Alard P, Ferrarini A, Inze D, Delledonne M, Van Breusegem F (2006) Nitric oxide – and hydrogen peroxide – responsive gene regulation during cell death induction in tobacco. *Plant Physiology* 141, 404-411
- Zemojtel T, Fröhlich A, Palmieri MC, Kolaczyk M, Mikula L, Wyrwicz LS, Wanker EE, Mundlos S, Vingron M, Martasek P, Durner J (2006) Plant nitric oxide synthase: a never-ending story? *Trends in Plant Science* 11, 524-525
- Zs-Nagy I, Galli C (1977) On the possible role of unsaturated fatty acids in the anaerobiosis of Anodonta cygnea L. (Mollusca, Pelecypoda). Acta Biology of Academy Science Hungary 28, 23-131